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          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Good afternoon.

          3  Today the Committee on Aging will be holding an

          4  oversight hearing on the question of saving Social

          5  Security and Medicare as challenges for the new

          6  millennium.

          7                 Social Medicaid and Medicare are the

          8  two programs that provide a basic financial health

          9  and safety net for most of our senior citizens.

         10                 In his 1999 State of the Union

         11  message, the President proposed major changes in the

         12  ways Social Security is financed. However, the

         13  majority of congress disagrees with the president's

         14  proposal and recommend a different approach. I dare

         15  say some of us may also be disagreeing with him.

         16                 In June of '99, President Clinton

         17  also revealed his plan to modernize and strengthen

         18  Medicare by making it more competitive and

         19  efficient.

         20                 However, since the elderly population

         21  will almost double in the next 30 years, it is clear

         22  that additional financing will be necessary to

         23  maintain basic services and the quality of such

         24  services for any length of time.

         25                 Senior citizens and their advocates
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          2  have very serious concerns, whether the proposed

          3  reforms will allow social security and Medicare to

          4  continue to provide the benefits the beneficiaries

          5  currently receive, and the enhancements they will

          6  require to feel secure in the future.

          7                 Therefore, at today's hearing, we

          8  hope to hear testimony by experts who will discuss

          9  how the two programs might be reformed to address

         10  the concerns of senior citizens.

         11                 And just for your information, we

         12  have invited to testify at the hearing today Joe

         13  Baker of the Medicare Rights Center. Amy West of

         14  JAPAC, Eleanor Litwak, New York State Senior

         15  Citizens. Lani Sanjak, Statewide Senior Action

         16  Council. Shirley Gent, Area Councils on Aging. Clara

         17  Mayer, Older Women's League. Meyer Braterman,

         18  representing a number of senior advocacy groups.

         19  David McNally, American Association of Retired

         20  Persons, who I understand may not be here today. And

         21  Sid Socolar, also representing a number of senior

         22  advocacy groups.

         23                 I just want to introduce my

         24  colleagues who are here with me so far. And if you

         25  have attended meetings, you know we come from other
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          2  meetings so that we are not all here at one time. My

          3  Council colleague Mr. Lasher from Brooklyn, and my

          4  colleague next door to me in Queens, Mike Abel. My

          5  able staff and you folks here.

          6                 Now, do we have any forms yet? Okay

          7  so we will have Joe Baker come first, if you will.

          8  Joe Baker of Medicare Rights Center.

          9                 MR. BAKER: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Thank you.

         11                 MR. BAKER: I am Joe Baker, and I am

         12  the Executive Vice President of the Medicare Rights

         13  Center. We are based here in New York City and our

         14  mission is to help people on Medicare, both seniors

         15  and people with disabilities, get access to

         16  affordable, high quality health care in the Medicare

         17  Program.

         18                 We have a contract with the State

         19  Office for the Aging here in New York State to run

         20  the New York State HIICAP hot line, that is Health

         21  Insurance Information Counseling and Assistance

         22  Program. We get over 50,000 calls a year from New

         23  Yorkers across the state and help more than 7,000

         24  people directly get access to care or get the

         25  information that they need.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And are you

          3  located in New York City as well?

          4                 MR. BAKER: We are located here in

          5  Manhattan.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Where do you

          7  function here?

          8                 MR. BAKER: We function out of

          9  Manhattan. We have an 800 number that is available

         10  to every resident of the state, including city

         11  members. And about 45, almost 50 percent of our

         12  calls come from the New York City metropolitan

         13  region, mostly the five boroughs.

         14                 I want to thank you, the Committee on

         15  Aging today, for the opportunity to discuss the

         16  challenges facing the Medicare Program.

         17                 Today I want to talk about the two

         18  issues I think that are most important to people on

         19  Medicare and some of the impact of some of the

         20  reform proposals on those problems.

         21                 One is the high out-of-pocket cost of

         22  Medicare, including high cost of prescription drugs.

         23                 And secondly, what we perceive that

         24  people want the most out of the Medicare Program,

         25  and that is a stable program that can provide them
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          2  with reliable, affordable benefits that fit their

          3  health care needs.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: So your focus

          5  will be on Medicare?

          6                 MR. BAKER: My focus will be on

          7  Medicare, that is our expertise and that is the area

          8  that we work in exclusively, Medicare, it keeps us

          9  busy enough.

         10                 First, many people on Medicare pay

         11  more than they can afford in out-of-pocket health

         12  care expenses, including co-payments, adjustables,

         13  HMO premiums, and benefits not covered by Medicare,

         14  like pharmaceuticals, prescription drugs.

         15                 Most people on Medicare have very

         16  modest incomes. Their typical annual income is

         17  15,500. Of course we know that means some people

         18  have higher incomes, and the same number of people

         19  have a lower income than that, but the typical

         20  senior is living at 15,5.

         21                 Typically they spend 2,600 a year,

         22  almost 20 percent of their income on health care

         23  costs that are not covered by Medicare.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Is that

         25  universal? Is that across the board?
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          2                 MR. BAKER: That is across the board,

          3  across the country, yes. I mean, they are spending

          4  2,600 on costs not covered by Medicare, 20 percent

          5  of their income. When we are talking about health,

          6  we have to add that to rent, food, light bill, et

          7  cetera, 20 percent is just going to --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I am just

          9  impressed by the numbers of people who are old, who

         10  are dependent upon health care per se, and now who

         11  are not aging in a healthy manner.

         12                 MR. BAKER: Right. And many of the

         13  cause of that is because they can't afford some of

         14  the therapies that are not covered by Medicare, like

         15  prescription drugs.

         16                 They are not availing themselves of

         17  them because they are unaffordable.

         18                 Three out of four people on Medicare

         19  take prescription drugs, one out of three spend more

         20  than $500 a year on prescription drugs. So, many say

         21  that HMOs are the solution to the problem, but if

         22  you see that many are spending more than $500 a year

         23  on prescription drugs, and many HMOs in this

         24  metropolitan area that are serving New York City

         25  residents cap their limit at $500, yes, it is a bit
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          2  of a benefit but it is not the solution to many

          3  people's drug care costs. It is not enough coverage

          4  for them. And when they get sick, it certainly isn't

          5  enough because their prescription drugs can soar.

          6                 For example, 1.3 million people on

          7  Medicare nationwide have to spend more than $2,000 a

          8  year on prescription. People with chronic and

          9  serious illness spend even more. People with

         10  rheumatoid arthritis, serious rheumatoid arthritis,

         11  can pay now up to $12,000 a year for their

         12  prescription drug costs, people with multiple

         13  sclerosis who are covered by Medicare still pay

         14  11,000 out of their own pocket for a prescription

         15  drug.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And if they

         17  don't have the money, what happens to them?

         18                 MR. BAKER: Well, primarily what

         19  happens is that some of them depend upon the

         20  generosity of friends and family, others spend down

         21  their income, impoverish themselves, so that they

         22  can qualify from the Medicaid Program, and still

         23  others may get some help from a doctor through free

         24  samples. But we find what is happening is many

         25  people are mortgaging their homes, many are putting
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          2  off their children's education, racking up credit

          3  card debt to pay for these kinds of prescriptions,

          4  and then as a last resort, going into the Medicaid

          5  Program in order to get the prescription drug

          6  coverage.

          7                 But they are willing, they don't want

          8  to do that, they want to stay in the Medicare

          9  Program.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Well, I am just

         11  surprised there are so many people who can lay out

         12  of their own pocket $12,000 each year, and

         13  presumably they will live a couple of years, and

         14  that runs into big money.

         15                 MR. BAKER: Yes, it does run into big

         16  money.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Even if they

         18  are depending on a family or friends or whoever to

         19  help them.

         20                 MR. BAKER: They just are desperate

         21  people and they are doing whatever they can. As I

         22  said, many of them have credit card bills in the

         23  70,000, 60,000, 80,000.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Would you

         25  estimate any given percentage of the population in
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          2  that?

          3                 MR. BAKER: I don't have those

          4  percentages.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Is it fairly

          6  prevalent?

          7                 MR. BAKER: It is fairly prevalent. I

          8  mean, I can talk about anecdotally what we see on

          9  our hot line. As I said, we get 50,000 calls a year,

         10  and I would say about 15 percent of the callers that

         11  we have are people, which is a large percentage,

         12  given all of the issues that we get on the hot line,

         13  are calling because they cannot afford their

         14  prescription drug coverage, prescription drugs, and

         15  they are looking for some types of coverage.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Those are

         17  generic as well as the trade names.

         18                 MR. BAKER: All different kinds of

         19  drugs, right. Brand name drugs, generic drugs, the

         20  whole line of drug products are out there for

         21  people.

         22                 As I said, 15 percent of our callers

         23  are asking about prescription drugs. They are

         24  calling up and asking about Medicare or Medigap HMOs

         25  to see if they can fill the gaps. Some people that
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          2  we hear from are skipping pills, they are not taking

          3  all of the medication that they buy because they

          4  want to make it last as long as they can because

          5  they are skipping pills. Some are picking and

          6  choosing which prescriptions to fill. Rather than

          7  getting them all filled they will say, okay, my

          8  blood pressure is the most important thing, so let

          9  me just get that filled and I won't get the thing

         10  for depression or for my diabetes or whatever it

         11  might be. And still others are going without because

         12  they can't afford and they are not signed up for

         13  other programs that might be able to help them, but

         14  they are just going without their prescription

         15  drugs.

         16                 One typical client that we have who

         17  lives here in the City is Mrs. K. She didn't want us

         18  to use her name. She is a 66-year-old woman who

         19  takes medication for cholesterol, heart condition,

         20  high blood pressure, and depression. Her

         21  prescription costs about $2,000 a month, which is a

         22  little over 10 percent of her annual income. She

         23  qualifies for no income-based assistance programs.

         24  She is paying out of pocket for all of her medicine.

         25  She usually pays for her drugs one week at a time,
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          2  because that is all she can afford with her cash

          3  flow, so she doesn't get a whole month's

          4  prescription, she just does it a week at a time, and

          5  her pharmacist is understanding about that but not

          6  all are.

          7                 And she is getting by right now, but

          8  she may be one of these, and I don't know her

          9  particular circumstance, I do know that she has a

         10  Medigap policy.

         11                 Recently we heard from Empire Blue

         12  Cross Blue Shield at hearings that the Department of

         13  Insurance held and they are going to be -- they want

         14  to file to increase their premium ten percent.

         15                 So, what we have here is a situation

         16  where you are paying out of pocket for your

         17  prescription drug, Mrs. K is, but then she is -- and

         18  she is tightly budgeted on all of her other health

         19  care expenses. If that goes up ten percent over

         20  here, even though it is not connected with her

         21  drugs, it is going to impact on the drugs because

         22  she is out a fine line with her budgeting, and that

         23  is where many of our clients are. They may be

         24  getting by, but that is all that is happening, they

         25  are getting by.
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          2                 Secondly, our clients tell us that

          3  they want a stable Medicare Program that they can

          4  count on.

          5                 In the last two years, and this

          6  hasn't really hit in the City yet, although it has

          7  hit in Queens with Vitra pulling out of Queens this

          8  year, but more than 700,000 people on Medicare have

          9  been involuntarily dropped from their Medicare HMOs,

         10  and still more, and we are going to see this in the

         11  City this year, with cutbacks in prescription drug

         12  coverage and other benefit levels, that HMOs have

         13  come into areas and said we are going to offer these

         14  goodies for no additional premium and what we are

         15  seeing now is a kind of bait and switch where people

         16  have signed up for the program, and they may be

         17  getting very good care in the program, some are,

         18  some aren't, but now the drug benefits and the other

         19  goodies, the other freebee's that have enticed them

         20  into the program are being cut back because they are

         21  not government guaranteed benefits, and these HMOs

         22  are making business decisions about where the

         23  profits are and how they are going to maximize their

         24  profits.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Can I ask you a
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          2  question at this point?

          3                 MR. BAKER: Sure.

          4                 MR. BAKER: Sure.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: With the

          6  numbers of aging persons in the United States, and

          7  with the projections of their doubling or certainly

          8  increasing considerably in the coming ten, 20, 30

          9  years, and with the numbers of persons who are so

         10  dependent on drugs to survive, has any thought ever

         11  been given to questioning the cost of the

         12  pharmaceuticals?

         13                 MR. BAKER: Well, I know we are all

         14  coming from a meeting where that subject was the

         15  main subject of discussion, and I know the speakers

         16  after me have a lot more to say about that and have

         17  a lot of good numbers and figures for you about, for

         18  example, the cost of drugs in Canada, where the

         19  government is involved in buying drugs for the

         20  population and getting discounts from the drug

         21  manufacturers as opposed to here where the

         22  government is not doing that for us.

         23                 And that is not necessarily price

         24  controlled. You know, we allow companies in the

         25  private marketplace the ability to negotiate prices

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            16

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  with suppliers. So, Aetna US Health Care, Empire

          3  Blue Cross Blue Shield, the private companies go out

          4  and they say for a pharmaceutical company, hey, we

          5  have got 2 million insured people we will bring to

          6  your doorstep for your drug, give us a break on it.

          7                 Now, it seems to me, why did those

          8  people in the free market area, and we all on a

          9  certain level love the marketplace to a certain

         10  degree in this country, but if they are allowed to

         11  do that, then why isn't government who has 40

         12  million people in the Medicare Program allowed to do

         13  the same thing, and be a player in that market the

         14  same way all of these other players are. And I think

         15  the bottom line is drug company profits.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: So, I will be

         17  hearing more from your colleagues in the audience.

         18                 MR. BAKER: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Good. Well I

         20  was on the right track.

         21                 MR. BAKER: Yes, you were. Yes, you

         22  were, it's a big issue.

         23                 Bottom line is the private Medicare

         24  HMO program is not the answer to providing drug

         25  coverage and benefits to all the people on Medicare,
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          2  it is not the magic bullet that many thought it

          3  would turn out to be.

          4                 Right now the HMOs are costing the

          5  government money, not saving it money, because

          6  relatively healthy people are joining them,

          7  relatively sick people are leaving them to go into

          8  the traditional medicare Program when they get sick

          9  because they see it as more generous and as a place

         10  where they can get more care.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Well, then why

         12  do they go in the HMOs in the first place?

         13                 MR. BAKER: Because they are enticed

         14  there, especially when they are healthy, when they

         15  see these extra goodies offered they think to

         16  themselves I can get those extras, I don't have to

         17  pay any extra premium and they will take care of me.

         18  And what they find, through our hot line that we

         19  see, is that once they start to need expensive

         20  levels of care, the HMO starts to put the brakes on,

         21  people come out of the HMO because they are allowed

         22  to do that, go back into the original Medicare

         23  Program and get the care that they should have

         24  gotten in the HMO, paid for by the HMO, paid for by

         25  the federal government. In a sense the federal
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          2  government is paying twice, the premium to the HMO,

          3  when they are healthy, when they are sick, for the

          4  care directly.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: It doesn't make

          6  sense.

          7                 MR. BAKER: It doesn't make sense.

          8  That is exactly right.

          9                 Let me talk a little bit about the

         10  President's proposal and some of the other proposals

         11  that are out there right now.

         12                 President Clinton's Medicare proposal

         13  is an effort to ensure that health care is

         14  affordable for people on Medicare and that benefits

         15  are secure.

         16                 The President does provide for an

         17  optional prescription drug benefit that would be

         18  available to all people on Medicare, not just the

         19  poor. Some proposals out there are just for the poor

         20  in Medicare, we need a drug benefit for everyone in

         21  Medicare.

         22                 In contrast, the other proposals out

         23  there are popularly known as the Breaux Thomas

         24  proposal, because it is co-sponsored or will be

         25  co-sponsored, if it ever really rises to the level
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          2  of a bill, by Senator Breaux and representative

          3  Thomas, is a premium support or voucher proposal,

          4  which will shift in even larger portion of health

          5  care costs to seniors and people with disabilities

          6  and only provide drug coverage for lower income

          7  people on Medicare.

          8                 One projection shows that in 2025,

          9  under premium support, people on Medicare will spend

         10  between 33 and 39 percent of their annual income on

         11  health care costs. So that program is really

         12  designed to get, to use their words that I have

         13  actually heard in some meetings, is get these people

         14  off the government's back, meaning shift the cost to

         15  these seniors and people with disabilities.

         16                 In short, premium support does not

         17  guarantee that in coming years all people on

         18  Medicare will get the same benefits they get today,

         19  and they may be forced to accept an inadequate

         20  benefits package because they can't use their own

         21  money to supplement the money that the government

         22  will give them to buy a private health insurance

         23  plan.

         24                 Judging from the thousands of people

         25  that we have talked to on Medicare, President
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          2  Clinton's plan to dedicate 15 percent of the federal

          3  budget surplus to extend the life of the Medicare

          4  Program until 2027, eliminate all cost sharing for

          5  preventive benefits, and provide prescription drug

          6  coverage to people on Medicare is a good start. It

          7  is not the perfect plan, but it is a good start for

          8  talking about this.

          9                 It is now up to Congress and us as

         10  citizens, to build on the president's

         11  recommendations and pass a bill that will help

         12  people on Medicare get the health care they need at

         13  prices they can afford.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Can you

         15  elucidate a little bit about the President's

         16  proposal?

         17                 MR. BAKER: Well, I know others are

         18  going to pick up pieces of it during the day.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

         20                 MR. BAKER: But let me just say this,

         21  and that is, that for example, the President's

         22  proposal, when it is fully phased in in the Year

         23  2008, will cover only $2,500 a year in drug costs,

         24  for it is a maximum benefit of 5,000 with 50 percent

         25  co-sharing, so, therefore, the maximum benefit is
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          2  2,500. That takes care of the cost of the vast

          3  majority of Medicare beneficiaries.

          4                 However, it does not take care of the

          5  people that I was talking about earlier, and that is

          6  those people with chronic long-term illness, as well

          7  as people with acute illnesses that may cost a very

          8  large amount of money in drug costs in a short

          9  period of time.

         10                 And after all, that is what Medicare

         11  is there for, to protect us from catastrophic health

         12  insurance costs. We can all afford. You know, many

         13  seniors can afford $5 here, $10 there visit to a

         14  doctor, what we really need protection for is that

         15  catastrophic cost, and the President's proposal does

         16  not reach into that area. That is an issue.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And it seems to

         18  me a perfect way of combining two separate efforts

         19  on our part, one is to reduce the cost of drugs all

         20  together, if we are going to, you know, accept the

         21  proposal put forward by the President.

         22                 MR. BAKER: Right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: A reduction of

         24  the overhead to the consumer of medical supplies

         25  would extend it even further.
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          2                 MR. BAKER: That's right. If we had

          3  some sort of discount that we offered, or that the

          4  government could procure from the pharmaceutical

          5  companies, even if we didn't change the President's

          6  proposal.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Especially the

          8  pharmaceuticals who left the United States and took

          9  their business to the islands off shore and took the

         10  work away from the United States workers too. And

         11  they are not paying any taxes on their profits. I

         12  remember that very well.

         13                 MR. BAKER: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: So, I have no

         15  sympathy for the pharmaceutical.

         16                 MR. BAKER: I don't think you will

         17  find much back here either.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

         19                 MR. BAKER: I think whatever we do, we

         20  have to remember that whatever law we pass, and I

         21  know you all are aware of this, they can be very

         22  powerful laws, but they are only as good as the

         23  enforcement --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Always.

         25                 MR. BAKER:-- That we make on them.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Even in New

          3  York City.

          4                 MR. BAKER: That is right.

          5                 And we continue to hear about New

          6  Yorkers on Medicare with low income and others who

          7  don't know about the various low-income assistance

          8  programs and Medicare program, who are going to HRA

          9  offices and other offices and being improperly

         10  denied, or told they have to come back two or three

         11  times to apply, and we are working with other groups

         12  in the City to do advocacy about that and to bring

         13  this to the attention not only to the City

         14  Administration but also to officials in Albany.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Have you in any

         16  way advertised your presence to the members of the

         17  City Council in total?

         18                 MR. BAKER: I think we have, but I

         19  think we need to do a new outreach effort in this

         20  fall campaign that we are going to have around

         21  Medicare in October, to really reach out to you all,

         22  and make sure that your constituents know about it

         23  and make sure your constituents service people as

         24  they hear these issues.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Make sure our
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          2  colleagues know about it first.

          3                 MR. BAKER: Right. Exactly. And bring

          4  it to our attention because we can act as advocates

          5  in that regard.

          6                 We also have been hearing about the

          7  home health care crisis in Medicare.

          8                 I know I participated in hearings

          9  that you held last, I guess the spring/winter, about

         10  the fact that because of the way that Medicare is

         11  now paying for home health care, there have been

         12  severe access issues that people have not been able

         13  to get Medicare home health care, and so we are

         14  still fighting on that front.

         15                 Every day we help people navigate

         16  this system to reach a wider audience, we reach out

         17  to professionals and I think we need to do more to

         18  reach out to you and to your colleagues, and we hope

         19  that you will call upon the Medicare Rights Center

         20  and many of my colleagues here to act as a resource

         21  as we move forward.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I would like to

         23  have more information about where I can access you

         24  guys.

         25                 MR. BAKER: Okay.
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          2                 Certainly we are here in the City,

          3  and I can get a phone number for the record (212)

          4  869-3850. I am at extension 15. Miriam knows where

          5  to get me.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay, fine.

          7                 MR. BAKER: And I am happy to take any

          8  of your questions, but that concludes my testimony

          9  for today.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Let me

         11  introduce my friend Mike Nelson, who is here from

         12  Brooklyn. He has joined us. And the floor is open,

         13  if you have any questions, Mike, or Mike Nelson?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: No.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ABEL: Not at the

         16  moment.

         17                 MR. BAKER: Okay. Well, we will be

         18  happy to assist you.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: With seniors

         20  in particular, it appears that something has to give

         21  in this country, more and more of us are getting

         22  more senior every day. Why it isn't happening sooner

         23  I guess is some sort of this large overall puzzle

         24  with some controlling interests, I have my

         25  suspicions on.
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          2                 With the controls are inevitable, I

          3  feel, and the sooner we have controls, especially

          4  with the pharmaceutical companies, they are charging

          5  incredible amounts of money which I have seen some

          6  of us are lucky enough to have insurance.

          7                 MR. BAKER: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: And many of us

          9  are not. So, basically the message to society is

         10  that if you can't afford it, die, you are taking up

         11  space here, you are living too long and we don't

         12  care about your pain. Maybe that is the message that

         13  has to go out to all people who are in positions of

         14  power to do anything about this, and to change the

         15  laws and to rein in these pharmaceutical companies

         16  who I have no doubt are making an absorbitant

         17  amounts, and very top heavy in salaries.

         18                 So, having said that, thank you,

         19  Madam Chair.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Thank you.

         21                 Thank you, too.

         22                 MR. BAKER: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And if you have

         24  copies of anything?

         25                 MR. BAKER: Yes, I do. I have copies
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          2  of my testimony that I can leave with you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Yes, please do.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 MR. BAKER: You are welcome. Thank

          6  you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I would like to

          8  invite Mr. Barrett to come to the podium, please,

          9  and if you have any colleagues with you.

         10                 Would you introduce yourself by name

         11  and organization or affiliation, please. And bring

         12  the microphone close to you, so we record you. Thank

         13  you.

         14                 MR. BARRETT: Good afternoon, Madam

         15  Chairwoman, members of the Council. My name is Gene

         16  Barrett, I am the Regional Director for AARP Vote

         17  here in New York City, and AARP Vote is the voter

         18  education arm of the AARP. We do voter education and

         19  advocacy work. I am a volunteer.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I congratulate

         21  you for that.

         22                 MR. BARRETT: And over the last three

         23  years I have been an active volunteer. As you may

         24  know the AARP is strictly nonpartisan we do not

         25  endorse or oppose any political candidate or any
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          2  political party, but we do concentrate on issues,

          3  and during the time I have been an active volunteer,

          4  our main issues have been Medicare and Social

          5  Security.

          6                 Today I am going to talk about one of

          7  those issues and that is Social Security.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Good.

          9                 MR. BARRETT: By the way, I do come

         10  from Mike Abel's district.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Oh, do you?

         12                 MR. BARRETT: He is my Councilman.

         13  Yes. From College Point in Queens.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Oh, College

         15  Point mosquitoes.

         16                 MR. BARRETT: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: God help us.

         18                 MR. BARRETT: He used to have his

         19  office around my corner. You know, I am right near

         20  where the mosquito episode was born.

         21                 When Social Security, when you bring

         22  up Social Security, you talk to people of my

         23  generation and we understand precisely how important

         24  Social Security is to ourselves, and to our

         25  communities and to our neighbors and to our friends.
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          2  But when you talk to someone that isn't retired yet,

          3  they are still working --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Or that doesn't

          5  have a memory that goes back as far as our memory.

          6                 MR. BARRETT: Like, my two daughters,

          7  you are liable to get one or two answers. Number

          8  one, they will say, well, Social Security is fine

          9  for you, but it is not going to be there when I need

         10  it.

         11                 Or you are going to get, well, it is

         12  okay, but give me the money and I can invest it

         13  myself and make a better return than you get on the

         14  money you put into Social Security that is taken out

         15  of my paycheck.

         16                 Well, I would like for, if I can, to

         17  just take a few minutes and use both of these

         18  notions, if I can.

         19                 Now, on the first one, Social

         20  Security isn't perfect, not by a long shot, but it

         21  is not broke either, and it is not going to go

         22  broke.

         23                 Right now, if we don't touch Social

         24  Security at all, if we do nothing to it, it will be

         25  able to pay full benefits until the Year 2034, when
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          2  incidently I am going to be 105 years old and still

          3  drawing checks.

          4                 After that even, it will be able to

          5  pay 75 percent of all benefits from as far out as we

          6  can forecast.

          7                 Now, 75 percent, that ain't good,

          8  it's not perfect, it's not great, and I wouldn't

          9  like to be getting 75 percent of benefits now, I

         10  won't like to get them when I am 105 years old, but

         11  the point is that it is fixable. With a little

         12  tinkering, with a few minor adjustments here and

         13  there, we can make Social Security where it is going

         14  to pay 100 percent of benefits from as far out as we

         15  can forecast which is about 75 years.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Now, does AARP

         17  have this proposal in writing so we can study it?

         18                 MR. BARRETT: Well, that is the point,

         19  we don't have a proposal. I don't think there is one

         20  proposal out there, there is no silver bullet that

         21  you can say we will do this and we will fix Social

         22  Security. But there are a whole bunch of things that

         23  we can do and we think if they put them together in

         24  a nonpartisan way, take a piece here, a piece there

         25  and put them together, they will be able to fix it
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          2  for all time.

          3                 What it does take is effort on both

          4  parties sides, both sides, to sit down and work it

          5  out.

          6                 We think the Clinton proposals and

          7  the Archer proposal is a good starting place, they

          8  both have some merit, in both proposals, to fix

          9  Social Security, and we think it is a good starting

         10  point to get together and work it out.

         11                 Now, here we do have positions on

         12  many of the areas that have been put forth.

         13                 For instance, on use of the budget

         14  surplus, well we think that is a darn good idea to

         15  use it to save Social Security, particularly because

         16  the budget surplus right now is Social Security

         17  money, up until now. It won't be somewhere's down

         18  the road but right now it is all attributable to

         19  Social Security.

         20                 Right now the Social Security Trust

         21  Fund is stand, will stand. It is expected to stand

         22  for something like $864 billion by the end of this

         23  year, and that is going to rise until $3.8 trillion.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Assuming the

         25  government doesn't dip into it too often and take
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          2  out of it.

          3                 MR. BARRETT: No, they get credit for

          4  it. I mean, right now the trust fund must by law be

          5  invested in government bonds.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

          7                 MR. BARRETT: They must.

          8                 Any money that is not paid out in

          9  benefits must go in a government bond by law, and it

         10  ought to have $3.8 trillion worth by the Year 2020,

         11  at which point it will start to go down, and by the

         12  Year 2034 there will be nothing left, the whole

         13  surplus will be wiped out. Why? Because of course

         14  the baby boom. Seventy-five million Americans,

         15  one-third of our population, was born between 1946

         16  and 1964.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And we have a

         18  lot of new babies being born every day, though, I

         19  think that will take up the slack.

         20                 MR. BARRETT: Well, those are the

         21  baby-boomers' babies.

         22                 So, right now we can use that

         23  surplus, that Social Security surplus, the budget

         24  surplus to augment the other surplus that is already

         25  in Social Security and keep it extending out --
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          2  well, Clinton's proposal extended out to 2055.

          3  Archer's proposal, he says, and actuarially it seems

          4  correct, will take it out for the next 75 years if

          5  not longer.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: What does AARP

          7  feel about the recommendation that some of the money

          8  be used for stock investment?

          9                 MR. BARRETT: Well, that depends on

         10  how you use it. We think a portion of those funds, a

         11  small portion of those funds could be invested in

         12  seeing other than government bonds to raise, raise

         13  the return, provided, provided that you can insulate

         14  it from the political process. And what that means,

         15  that could mean index funds -- I mean, should the

         16  government own a cigarette company? Probably not.

         17  Should it own a defense company? Probably not. There

         18  are a whole host of things that the government

         19  probably should not be investing in. And should the

         20  government invest the majority should the stock?

         21  Maybe, maybe not. If you can avoid them by index

         22  funds, that is one way to do it, and you could have

         23  a blind trust another way, some sort of thing like

         24  that where you could be insulated from the political

         25  process.
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          2                 But we think without insulating it

          3  from the political process, we don't believe it

          4  should be done.

          5                 As far as individual accounts are

          6  concerned, we encourage people to save, so we think,

          7  yes, something like a Clinton proposal for the

          8  individual savings account, the USA accounts always

          9  spoke on top of Social Security, but the carve-out

         10  process where they take 6.2 percent that comes out

         11  of people's pay, and put it into individual

         12  accounts, we think, no, because that would just

         13  hasten the day when the trust fund would go broke,

         14  whether you use up the trust fund, we don't think

         15  that is a good idea at all. We want to extend it,

         16  not make it go into default.

         17                 How about diverse location> As we

         18  said, we want to do that.

         19                 How about increasing the wage base?

         20  Well, they are increasing it. They increased it this

         21  year, increased the wage base that they were taking

         22  it out, but it is still well below the historical

         23  level.

         24                 Historically, the 72600 there is

         25  about 87 percent. Historically it has been at 90
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          2  percent of the average wage for work. You would be

          3  interested to know that the average wage for

          4  Americans are right now is like $92,000 or $98,000

          5  or something like that.

          6                 Listen, if I have ten people in this

          7  room and nine of them are earning $10,000 and one is

          8  earning $1 million, the average wage is $100,000.

          9  You know, 109,000. But nine of them are only getting

         10  ten.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Right.

         12                 MR. BARRETT: So, I mean average means

         13  nothing, but I thought I would just throw that out

         14  to you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You woke us all

         16  up.

         17                 MR. BARRETT: I would see how far

         18  behind you all are.

         19                 We think that another way you might

         20  consider it is universal coverage, including all

         21  state and local workers, as they come on stream, not

         22  the ones that are already there because that

         23  wouldn't be right, they have their own retirement

         24  schemes, and they should continue with them. They

         25  paid into it over all of these years, but new ones
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          2  that come on stream gradually put them onto the

          3  Social Security. Now, that would beef up Social

          4  Security for awhile, but you have got to realize

          5  that in the end they are going to be paying out too.

          6  So it is not over the long term a great thing.

          7                 We could raise the retirement age.

          8  But let me tell you, you raise the retirement age,

          9  you have got to do two things, you have got to make,

         10  one, you have got to make room for all of the

         11  workers to keep them.

         12                 Now, I was dumped at the age of 64, I

         13  was -- all of a sudden they hired two workers,

         14  younger, whose combined salaries were less than mine

         15  and they got rid of me. And you can't allow that

         16  kind of thing to happen if you are going to raise

         17  the retirement age from say 65 to 67. And then also

         18  you have got to make some kind of provision for the

         19  fellow who has a physically tough job that he can't

         20  possibly do until he is 67 and he has got to retire

         21  early. COLA. You can eliminate the COLA and right

         22  away the COLA cost of living adjustment that is made

         23  every year, this year we got a big 1.2 percent

         24  raise, but that is one way to save a lot of money

         25  with Social Security. But it is the only way most
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          2  people can keep pace with inflation, most retired

          3  people, because pensions, very, very few of them are

          4  indexed for inflation, very few. And without the

          5  COLA, the older you get, the poorer you get, and

          6  that is not a good thing to look forward to.

          7                 Some people would like to affluence

          8  test Social Security. In other words, people who

          9  earn so much on outside income don't need Social

         10  Security, so why give it to them?

         11                 Well, there aren't too many people

         12  like that to begin with, so it wouldn't save a heck

         13  of a lot of money, and secondly, right now as it

         14  stands Social Security is an earned benefit, it is

         15  not welfare, it is not government handout, it is

         16  something that you earn over the course of your

         17  working lifetime and it is something that is

         18  directly related to how much you contribute and how

         19  long you contribute to it. That is how much your

         20  pension gets.

         21                 So, you take that away and you

         22  affluence test, and what does it become? Right away

         23  it becomes a government handout for the indigent

         24  poor. The indigent older people. And it is no longer

         25  -- then it becomes a welfare program, and it is not
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          2  something that you earn and that is yours by right.

          3                 You can limit the number of years

          4  that some people propose extending the number of

          5  years that are included in that benefit calculation.

          6  Right now I think it is 33 years, they could make it

          7  35 or so, but that is just, that might strike

          8  against women. I know women get a real -- they get a

          9  rough deal from Social Security on the whole. Number

         10  one, they have to take time out to rear children,

         11  and that means time out of the workforce. And in my

         12  wife's case, since she took time out from the

         13  workforce with our two children at the precise time

         14  that the salaries were going up because of

         15  inflation, so her calculation of the wage base was

         16  much, much too low, and women historically have

         17  earned less anyhow, and this time out from the

         18  workforce to have children makes it even worse. So

         19  they have gotten a rough deal from Social Security.

         20                 There are some movements to adjust

         21  this inequity towards women and we support them.

         22                 And that about does it, as far as I

         23  am concerned, unless you have some questions for

         24  me.  We do have some principles that we think --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: What I wanted
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          2  to ask you, do you have copies of your statement

          3  with you?

          4                 MR. BARRETT: No. I will have it. We

          5  are having it made now.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

          7                 MR. BARRETT: It will be done. It is

          8  in the office.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Oh, okay. Well,

         10  then you will send them to us.

         11                 MR. BARRETT: Yes, we certainly will.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Thank you.

         13                 And just a very quickie, and not too

         14  controversial, because we have a lot of people here.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: I will try to

         16  keep it short. Thank you, Madam Chair.

         17                 And you are David McNally?

         18                 MR. BARRETT: No, I am Gene Barrett.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Mr. McNally is

         20  in the back.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Okay.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: He is speaking

         23  for you, Mr. McNally?

         24                 MR. McNALLY: Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay, so you
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          2  are not going to be speaking?

          3                 MR. McNALLY: No.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay, thank

          5  you.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Mr. Barrett,

          7  you are a wealth of information. Without testimony

          8  he is very informative. And not to be too

          9  controversial but a little controversial in terms of

         10  the question, you mentioned the Universal Health

         11  Coverage Plan, and how it would affect --

         12                 MR. BARRETT: Health?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Universal

         14  Health, did you not mention that?

         15                 MR. BARRETT: No. I was talking about

         16  Social Security.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Oh, I thought

         18  you dabbed into it.

         19                 MR. BARRETT: Oh, okay. Go ahead.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: I just want

         21  to know of in terms of when we look at health

         22  insurance and you look at the battle that we are

         23  dealing with, especially with seniors with HMOs, in

         24  terms of health care for our seniors, as opposed to

         25  the Medicaid, the Medicare issue, and we are looking
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          2  at the dollars and cents issue, obviously; what are

          3  some of your opinions on that? Very briefly.

          4                 MR. BARRETT: Well, I am speaking for

          5  the AARP. The AARP's ultimate goal always has been

          6  and is now universal coverage for health. That is

          7  our ultimate goal. But we don't think it would be

          8  politically feasible in today's client, so we are

          9  for expanding whatever kind of health coverage the

         10  government --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Politically

         12  economically more so than in terms of the battle and

         13  politics between --

         14                 MR. BARRETT: Well, the last time the

         15  Clinton proposal, in his first office, you know, to

         16  expand it to a single payor system, that kind of

         17  thing, it went down to defeat, and we were

         18  supportive of that and we still believe that

         19  universal coverage, health coverage, would be good

         20  for America, but we don't think that it would get

         21  very far in today's congress.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Thank you

         23  very much, Mr. Barrett.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Let me just

         25  introduce the fact that my colleague is Tracy
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          2  Boyland from Brooklyn also, who has joined us. Thank

          3  you.

          4                 Any questions, Mike? Or Mike?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: No.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ABEL: No.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

          8                 Thank you very much for coming.

          9                 MR. BARRETT: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Clare Mayer,

         11  please.

         12                 We are discussing gun control which

         13  is being discussed across the street. Some of our

         14  members will have to go across the street to pass

         15  votes on it.

         16                 Please, Ms. Mayer. Your microphone is

         17  not on. You have to push the button so the light

         18  goes off. It is a trick. If you have the light off,

         19  then the mic is on.

         20                 MS. MAYER: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Just pull it

         22  closer to you, okay?

         23                 MS. MAYER: Is this okay?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Fine.

         25                 MS. MAYER: Thank you. I am Clare
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          2  Mayer, I am one of the coordinators of the Old

          3  Women's League, Brooklyn Chapter. I am in Councilman

          4  Lasher's district.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: He will be

          6  back, too, he had to go vote.

          7                 MS. MAYER: We have a chapter

          8  membership of over 200. That is why you only got

          9  five copies.

         10                 OWL is a grassroots advocacy

         11  organization dedicated to bettering the lives of

         12  mid-life and older women. Our top two organizational

         13  priorities are national, universal, single-payor

         14  health care, and economic security.

         15                 I have some statistics, I can pass

         16  them by because you have them in order to make my

         17  testimony shorter.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Thank you.

         19                 MS. MAYER: When it comes to Social

         20  Security, I have very few words to say. But part of

         21  it is, if the monies collected for Social Security

         22  had not been mixed with the budget, we wouldn't have

         23  had a problem.

         24                 I think that until Social Security is

         25  saved, there should be no tax cut at all. That money
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          2  is owed to Social Security, that is where it

          3  belongs.

          4                 As for Medicare, I have a lot to say.

          5  The Brooklyn Chapter of OWL has actively worked in

          6  coalition with many other groups to extend Medicare

          7  benefits to all.

          8                 We believe that single payor

          9  universal health care is the best and the best value

         10  for all. Medicare cares for the elderly and the

         11  disabled, both high user populations. Increasing the

         12  pool to give health care coverage for all would make

         13  per person costs go down tremendously.

         14                 The Bipartisan Commission on the

         15  future of Medicare would change Medicare from a

         16  defined benefit plan to a defined contribution or

         17  voucher plan. It never dealt with prescription

         18  drugs. It was not a fix but a slide back into

         19  poverty for those with major illness costs.

         20                 I was a child when the mother of a

         21  middle class family I knew who was related to me,

         22  was diagnosed with cancer. By the time she died they

         23  had just about no money at all. The Bipartisan

         24  Commission Plan, which Senator Breaux is proposing

         25  would bring many of us back to that time.
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          2                 The President's plan keeps the

          3  defined benefit and it uses 15 percent of the budget

          4  surplus for the next 15 years to fund various

          5  benefits, one of which is the elimination of

          6  copayments and deductibles for preventive care.

          7                 My own drug costs for the next few

          8  years will be above $2,500.  Under the President's

          9  plan my out-of-pocket expenses would be for drugs

         10  $1,250 a year. The $24 a month part D payment is

         11  $288. Twenty percent of lab costs I am anticipating

         12  $450. It may be more, but I think I am being

         13  conservative. That makes my out-of-pocket cost

         14  $1,988, and with the $1,000 that the prescription

         15  pays for savings is $12.

         16                 Now, my yearly income is under $1,600

         17  a year. I am very lucky. I am a member of the New

         18  York State Retirement Plan and I have a great health

         19  and drug benefit. I am not yet a Medicare recipient

         20  but, you know, this retirement plan from New York

         21  State is fantastic.

         22                 A major problem with the President's

         23  plan is a $2,000 cap. Now, I am only talking about

         24  the 2002.  2008 it goes up a little bit, but we

         25  expect the drug costs will go up too.
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          2                 A major problem with the President's

          3  plan is the 2000 cap and the 288 yearly part D

          4  payment. You can't ever save more than $712, even if

          5  your drug bill is $20,000 a year. Lab fees will eat

          6  away at that savings.

          7                 There is another problem,

          8  beneficiaries would have to work out the numbers

          9  before they could make a good decision, regarding

         10  whether or not they wished to opt into the plan.

         11                 Many people would need help with the

         12  calculations and even then might easily make a

         13  decision that is not in their best interest.

         14                 I understand that the decision is a

         15  one-time affair, and I am not sure of that but I

         16  think so. Therefore, it would be a very good idea to

         17  know the future in order to make our choices.

         18                 That brings me to another problem.

         19  Employers are scaling back on health care coverage

         20  and the President's plan does not have a strong

         21  maintenance of effort provision, to prevent

         22  employers from reducing or dropping these benefits.

         23  By now most plans have payment limits, forcing the

         24  beneficiary to pick up all future costs. I can see

         25  retiree drug benefits being dropped because the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            47

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  President's plan picks up coverage. This must not

          3  happen. Any program must include maintenance of

          4  effort provision.

          5                 A major problem of the President's

          6  plan is that it does nothing to deal with the

          7  problem of high cost of drugs. Fifty percent of

          8  Medicare beneficiaries currently spend more than 500

          9  a month on prescriptions, ten percent have drug

         10  bills of $2,000 or more per month, $24,000 a year or

         11  more. More than the full-time gross wages of some

         12  middle class workers, more than mine.

         13                 And, remember, I said that before,

         14  half of all seniors have a $15,000 or less income

         15  and people who are disabled on Medicare have on an

         16  average of $10,000 or less.

         17                 We pay over 40 percent more for drugs

         18  than does the federal government. Seventy-two

         19  percent more than consumers in Canada, 102 percent

         20  more than consumers in Mexico. The President's plan

         21  does nothing to fix what looks like or what is

         22  obvious to me is price gouging that is taking place

         23  in the United States. Even the federal government is

         24  being taken for a ride.

         25                 This past July, members of the Green
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          2  Mountain Chapter of OWL in Vermont went to Montreal

          3  with Bernie Sanders, a group of senior citizens and

          4  breast cancer patients, where they filled their

          5  prescriptions. The average difference in prices in

          6  the United States and Canada, from their study,

          7  ranged from 32 percent to a whopping 1,122 percent.

          8  My written testimony has a list of drugs and their

          9  prices. I won't read from it, especially since I

         10  can't pronounce half the names.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

         12                 MS. MAYER: Now, there are other drug

         13  plans. Kennedy Allen would allow pharmacies to buy

         14  prescription drugs for Medicare beneficiaries at

         15  federal prices. What with no monthly payments, no

         16  caps and no added lab fees, this plan would be

         17  useful for all beneficiaries.

         18                 Obviously this is preferable to the

         19  President's plan.

         20                 Kennedy Stark, would require private

         21  Medigap plans, it is useful to low use beneficiaries

         22  and lower income high users, it may not be

         23  affordable at all.

         24                 I understand that Senator Marchi has

         25  introduced a bill to the New York State Senate that
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          2  is similar to the Kennedy Allen.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Does it have an

          4  assembly speaker? An assembly supporter?

          5                 MS. MAYER: Not that I know of.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

          7                 MS. MAYER: The President has other

          8  parts to his Medicare plan.

          9                 Early retirees, aged 62 to 65, can

         10  buy Medicare for about $300 a month small risk

         11  adjusted premium at 65. That kind of payment is way

         12  out of reach to 90 percent of those who need it.

         13  Those who do buy it would be internally penalized,

         14  because their payments at 65 would also be higher.

         15  There is also the problem that employers could

         16  decide to drop coverage for workers near retirement

         17  age, since insurance is, excuse the expression,

         18  available.

         19                 Displaced workers at age 55 to 62 can

         20  buy Medicare for about $400 a month. The problem is,

         21  how many people out of work can afford almost $5,000

         22  a year, after rent, taxes, food, drugs and other

         23  expenses, especially when the average family in this

         24  group has $32,000 in assets.

         25                 What about health care for the rest
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          2  of the family? What about any other expenses?

          3                 Early retirees can get Cobra coverage

          4  if dropped by a former employer. While it does make

          5  insurance available, again, these are very expensive

          6  policies and might not be affordable to most

          7  retirees.

          8                 Part B deductible which is now $100 a

          9  year with the index to general inflation. This will

         10  raise out of pocket costs which will discourage use

         11  of services, sometimes when they are really needed.

         12                 By the way, this goes for lab fees

         13  too. Lab fees also have been added to this.

         14                 Long-term care still needs to be

         15  dealt with. The McDermott Bill, back to Universal

         16  Health Care, provides accessible, affordable

         17  single-payor health care. It no longer ties health

         18  care to employment, or family status. You need not

         19  be connected to a husband, a parent or a job. It

         20  provides for consumer involvement in monitoring a

         21  plan and is locally administered. This is the best

         22  answer to the Medicare problem, and to the 43.4

         23  millions of Americans who have no health care and

         24  the many more who have totally inadequate health

         25  care coverage.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And there is no

          3  senate companion bill?

          4                 MS. MAYER: Not yet.

          5                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE:

          6  There is.

          7                 MS. MAYER: There is?

          8                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE:

          9  Kind of.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Kind of, but

         11  not yet reported here.

         12                 MS. MAYER: HR 1200 is going to be on

         13  forever. If it is not passed this year, it will

         14  still be HR 1200.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Now I want you

         16  to meet Council Member Thomas White, who is another

         17  colleague. He is from Queens, in Jamaica. And if

         18  anyone has any questions of you, Ms. Mayer? If not,

         19  I thank you very much.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Can I ask one

         21  question?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: One question,

         23  please.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Can I ask what

         25  Tamoxifen is?
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          2                 MS. MAYER: It is a drug for breast

          3  cancer patients.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Cancer. So, if

          5  you are lucky enough to live in Canada, it is $13,

          6  and if you are in this country, the hell with you,

          7  $156.

          8                 MS. MAYER: Well, I can get it for

          9  $118 a month.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: There are

         11  others. That one struck me.

         12                 MS. MAYER: Rite-Aid has a senior

         13  discount.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Rite-Aid.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Unbelievable.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Thank you,

         17  honey.

         18                 And now Barry Rock, please, if you

         19  will, from JPAC.

         20                 MR. ROCK: Good afternoon. My name is

         21  Barry Rock, and I am the Advisory Committee Chair of

         22  JPAC, which is an advisory group representing

         23  seniors in over 200 senior centers here in New York

         24  City.

         25                 I want to thank the City Council for
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          2  this opportunity to present our views on these two

          3  most vital subjects.

          4                 In bringing Medicare and Social

          5  Security to the forefront of political discussion,

          6  President Clinton has done a great service to

          7  seniors generation X'ers and in fact, all Americans.

          8  These issues are truly intergenerational. At some

          9  point in almost every American's life, these two

         10  programs will affect the financial and medical

         11  quality of everyone's life.

         12                 There are those, however, with their

         13  own private agendas, that would have us believe that

         14  like the popular fairytale foretells the sky is

         15  falling. And Medicare and Social Security are going

         16  bankrupt.

         17                 There is sufficient economic data,

         18  however, to confirm that the problem, while in the

         19  long-term financial crunch are both correctible and

         20  manageable without massive surgery or without

         21  extreme solutions.

         22                 We at JPAC advocate a more moderate

         23  approach to strengthening and pooling these two

         24  programs. With periodic lookbacks to fine-tune them

         25  when necessary.
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          2                 We remain convinced that there is no

          3  magic bullet and the future changes in both

          4  lifestyle and health care will naturally point the

          5  way for systematic reviews.

          6                 We strongly support President

          7  Clinton's concept of using a major portion of the

          8  projected surplus to extend the life of both of

          9  these programs.

         10                 We urge that the City Council seek to

         11  maximize this, and prioritize it even above any

         12  national tax cuts.

         13                 Injecting the surplus will extend the

         14  life of these programs. However, it will do nothing

         15  to either strengthen or improve them. It is these

         16  issues that we wish to address.

         17                 In this regard we have strong

         18  reservations about President Clinton's and other

         19  approaches now being considered by Congress.

         20                 In the area of Medicare. The concept

         21  of adding a prescription drug program to the

         22  Medicare Program is long overdue, and is a step in

         23  the right direction.

         24                 However, our analysis of President

         25  Clinton's proposal discloses that to a large extent
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          2  it will be unaffordable or of little value to a

          3  large proportion of participants who on average,

          4  which is about 30 percent of Medicare participants,

          5  have between $500 and $600 in annual prescription

          6  drug costs, even after President Clinton's discount

          7  kicks in.

          8                 We submit that in the first year of

          9  his proposal, 2002, the annual out-of-pocket costs

         10  to Medicare beneficiaries will exceed $1,225 without

         11  including the 20 percent copay in Medicare part B.

         12  It comprises the $22 monthly part D prescription

         13  drug program, with approximately $50 of your part B

         14  premium which is $45. It will also cover -- you will

         15  have to pay $250 to $300 because there is a 50

         16  percent copay on your prescription drugs, and on

         17  average, President Clinton takes what is now 100

         18  percent free lab work to saying you will then have

         19  to pay 20 percent of that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: How much

         21  percent, 20?

         22                 MR. ROCK: Twenty percent. And that

         23  would average out about another $6 a month to that.

         24                 This amounts to an average monthly

         25  cost in 2002 of over $100 a month, and increases in
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          2  2008 to over $160 a month.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You know, I am

          4  prompted to ask you a question, off the top you can

          5  just answer me.

          6                 The whole projection, this whole

          7  thought is predicated, it seems to me, on the basis,

          8  on the assumption that every senior is dependent

          9  upon drugs to maintain life.

         10                 I get the sense that if you should

         11  happen to be fortunate enough not to need any

         12  medicine, you should be happy and healthy, you would

         13  be kind of freaky in this society.

         14                 Am I wrong in saying -- you know, I

         15  feel you have to have drugs in your closet,

         16  otherwise you are not normal. It seems to me so

         17  abnormal that it seems sinful.

         18                 MR. ROCK: President Clinton's

         19  program, basically he claims is a voluntary one of

         20  which provides a 12-month window from when you

         21  become eligible or when the legislation passes.

         22                 If you think you are healthy or do

         23  not need drugs, you might opt not to take that.

         24                 But I can confirm, because I have

         25  gotten conformation, that if you do not take that
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          2  drug proposal, that drug, and pay the drug premium,

          3  even if you are completely healthy, if you don't

          4  take it in that first 12 months that you are

          5  eligible, you lose it permanently.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Wow.

          7                 MR. ROCK: You do not have an option

          8  after your window of opportunity.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I would

         10  consider that to be slightly subject to future

         11  discussion.

         12                 MR. ROCK: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Go ahead.

         14                 MR. ROCK: No, that is quite all

         15  right.

         16                 JPAC's preferred alternative would be

         17  legislation proposed by Congressman Allen and

         18  Senator Kennedy, HRA 664 and S731. This legislation

         19  would provide the lowest available price at the drug

         20  store level with no copayment or deductibles.

         21                 In addition, we would urge support of

         22  of H.Con Resolution 135 by Congressman Sanders and

         23  Senator Wellstone.

         24                 President Clinton's proposals for

         25  basic Medicare are also cause for concern. In view

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            58

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  of difficulties of enacting a strong Patient's

          3  Rights Bill of Rights, his formalizing the HMO

          4  managed care approach into Medicare programs, is

          5  likely also not acceptable to us.

          6                 We remain convinced that it would

          7  siphon off the younger, healthier beneficiaries from

          8  the traditional fee-for-service Medicare and

          9  encourage participants to make medical decisions

         10  based solely on financial needs, rather than their

         11  medical needs.

         12                 Other alternatives under discussion

         13  includes means testing, and increasing the age of

         14  eligibility to which we are also opposed. We are

         15  convinced that rather than improve and strengthen

         16  Medicare, these approaches would sow the seeds of

         17  weakening and diluting the universal nature of this

         18  most vital program.

         19                 In terms of Social Security, again,

         20  we applaud President Clinton's use of the projected

         21  budget surplus to extend the live of Social

         22  Security.  We are concerned about the approached

         23  proposed, however, by many.

         24                 Social Security was created as a

         25  social insurance program to guarantee a basic level
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          2  of income for people in their older years. It is

          3  not, and I repeat, it is not, nor was it ever

          4  intended to be, a retirement plan. It is a core part

          5  of an overall program that should include personal

          6  savings and an employer sponsored retirement plan.

          7                 It just makes good financial sense to

          8  have one part of the overall financial plan serve as

          9  the foundation and not be subjected to any risk.

         10  That is and should remain social security.

         11                 As a part of the inclusive program to

         12  strengthen Social Security, we suggest that the

         13  current level of income subject to Social Security

         14  is currently lower proportionately than it was when

         15  Social Security was enacted.

         16                 We would favor raising that level of

         17  income subject to social security. There are also a

         18  number of areas such as some state and municipal

         19  agencies that are not currently eligible to

         20  participate in the Social Security program.

         21                 We would recommend that this be

         22  considered on a case-by-case basis, with the view of

         23  including some of these categories into the program.

         24                 We are convinced that a combination

         25  of inclusion of the surplus, raising the cap and
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          2  adding some of the unincluded along with appropriate

          3  look-backs will virtually extend the solvency of

          4  Social Security for the foreseeable future.

          5                 We remain unalterably opposed to

          6  subjecting any of the Social Security funds to the

          7  stock market, either by private individuals, or by

          8  the government. Likewise, we do not support any

          9  changes to include means testing, increase in the

         10  age of eligibility, or increasing the current

         11  payroll tax. These are extreme tactics and should

         12  not be considered while there are other more

         13  appropriate adjustable means available.

         14                 Again, on behalf of JPAC, I want to

         15  thank you for this opportunity to express our views

         16  and I will be able to answer any questions.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 Questions? Council Member White.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Thank you,

         21  Madam Chair.

         22                 Good afternoon, Mr. Rock.

         23                 MR. ROCK: Good afternoon.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: How are you?

         25                 I find this hearing, Madam Chair,
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          2  very informative.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: They always

          4  are.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: All of my

          7  hearings are.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: I don't think

          9  that -- of course they are.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: It's true.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Whether it is

         12  Republicans or Democrats, everybody has always been

         13  trying to get their hands on Social Security

         14  dollars.

         15                 MR. ROCK: That's right.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: It's an

         17  economic issue, and the vehicles that have been set

         18  up to this trust fund, with the interest, no

         19  investments initially, in going over the history of

         20  social security, with FDR in 1939 or '38 --'35 and

         21  all of the progressive changes since them,

         22  retirement age 65, the unfairness, men were able to

         23  join in to age 62 in 1950. These amendments, all the

         24  amendments, 1950 amendments and 1972, 1961, in the

         25  early eighties, 1983 amendment, when all of these
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          2  amendments were proposed, where was the group that

          3  you represent, or groups like you represent, where

          4  were they then? Who watches these amendments on a

          5  congressional level that are being proposed? Because

          6  what I see in terms of what is being requested of

          7  us, Madam Chair, is that we take a look at the

          8  impact of Social Security and the needs they are

          9  having now, and collectively or legislatively

         10  influence our congressional colleagues in Washington

         11  to do something about amendments; am I correct?

         12                 MR. ROCK: That's correct.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Okay.

         14                 And I have no problem with that, but

         15  I have to do it from a historical perspective. Where

         16  were we in 1950? Where were we in 1961? Where were

         17  we in 1983? Because when I take a look at what has

         18  been set up, and whoever put this together for us

         19  for the Committee did a wonderful job --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I agree with

         21  you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: That, you know,

         23  we have been asleep at the switch. A lot of benefits

         24  have been added that have lent itself to the course

         25  of Social Security where we had a lot of money, we
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          2  tacked on all of our beneficiaries and we tacked on

          3  all of our children and our children's children, and

          4  we tacked on everything else, which took away from

          5  the initial intent. And I am not saying it is wrong

          6  and not to change, but when you take a change you

          7  have to take a look at the long-term impact.

          8                 Now we are at a point where the

          9  premiums and in terms of the investments, made with

         10  Social Security no longer can keep up, so because

         11  social security was supposed to be paid with the

         12  premiums off of the investments initially. Now we

         13  are paying as we go. The generation today is paying

         14  and making a payroll of everybody receiving Social

         15  Security today. So, when I get ready to retire, my

         16  children are supposed to take care of me. Before it

         17  was the premiums, it was the various vehicles of

         18  investment, and I am hearing you say out of the 4.4

         19  trillion, anticipated to be a saving to the federal

         20  government, that 2 trillion should be placed or is

         21  recommended to be placed here, there. We have some

         22  distinguished gentlemen, ladies and gentlemen,

         23  proposing what to do with that money. But to me it

         24  doesn't solve the problem of the original intent.

         25  And the original intent under President Roosevelt
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          2  was the guaranteed security for all working

          3  Americans, all right? And I think the more we

          4  tittle-tattle with the little pieces and not stay on

          5  the original concept, the more we give up.

          6                 So, what I am saying, Madam Chair,

          7  basically is, we have lost sight of the original

          8  intent of Social Security.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Well, to tell

         10  you the truth, until I read this resume, the

         11  background, I never really understood what had been

         12  happening to it. So this has been a learning

         13  experience for me.

         14                 MR. ROCK: If I may response?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Yes.

         17                 MR. ROCK: First of all, I am glad you

         18  bought up Roosevelt. His vision of Social Security,

         19  again, was not a retirement program. It was a three

         20  legged stool. The fact of the matter is that one of

         21  his stools was personal savings. How can people,

         22  young people today working, save when more and more

         23  jobs are being downsized and cut to part-time work.

         24  So, the corporate world has cut into ability for one

         25  of those legs to be taken care of.
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          2                 The other leg I also put at the feet

          3  of corporate America.

          4                 Roosevelt said there should be a

          5  retirement plan by each company for its employees.

          6  Whether it be a 401K or a retirement plan.

          7                 More and more companies today are

          8  reducing and eliminating their retirement programs.

          9  That means that the worker today can only depend on

         10  Social Security, so there is an increased emphasis

         11  on only one of the three legs, in terms of where we

         12  were in terms of 35 and 50 and 80, many of the

         13  organizations that are here today were there then.

         14  And the fact is, had we not been there then, the

         15  situation would have been much more critical, and

         16  much more devastating then, because many of the same

         17  negative forces that are here trying to eliminate

         18  those programs today were back there then trying to

         19  eliminate it then. So, we were able to negate some

         20  of that negativeness and get some additional items

         21  into that program.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Okay, well I

         23  just wanted to know, because I would like to be a

         24  part of having some constructive input into

         25  resolving a problem like this, seeing to it that I
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          2  look forward to getting Social Security soon myself.

          3  But my mother is on Social Security. But let me say

          4  one thing.

          5                 One of the things, Madam Chair, when

          6  you are talking about Corporate America and you talk

          7  about other things that go on, on our level, we give

          8  a lot of tax incentives, a lot of tax breaks, I mean

          9  there are a lot of things I think that are small

         10  that are very important that we can address on a

         11  Citywide level, in terms of incorporating or making

         12  an effort to incorporate, when we let out certain

         13  kinds of contracts to certain companies, you know,

         14  it goes across the board. This is a massive problem

         15  here. But the cost of things have gone up.

         16                 MR. ROCK: That's right.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: And we are

         18  going to have to pay more. I think that our seniors

         19  are getting cost of living adjustment, and with the

         20  acceptance of cost of living adjustments, you have

         21  to adjust to the cost of living. Maybe that was a

         22  bad thing to do, maybe we should have been the

         23  exempt, in terms of cost of living adjustments and

         24  keep the prices where they were, so that you can get

         25  more but if you spend, if the value of the dollar is
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          2  worth less, it doesn't make sense. You are going to

          3  give an additional dollar, now my dollar is worth 50

          4  cents.

          5                 So, all I am saying, since you are

          6  occupying the position that you do with JPAC, is to

          7  make a suggestion that I have no problem with your

          8  presentation and your statement, and I welcome it,

          9  but in terms of moving forth to change things, I

         10  think you have to come up with a plan. I think you

         11  are going to have to lobby the pharmaceutical

         12  companies, you know, as a group, in terms of

         13  pharmaceutical prices, and what that means, there

         14  are a lot of things that can be done without

         15  legislation, just as a group and a body in terms of

         16  purchasing power, in addition to while we work on

         17  this legislation, because I don't think it is going

         18  to catch up in time. I wish that it would but I

         19  don't think so, because we always wait late to get

         20  to it.

         21                 MR. ROCK: I thank you for your

         22  comments, and I am sure we will all take them under

         23  advisement.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 Eleanor Litwak, please.

          3                 MS. LITWAK: Good afternoon,

          4  Chairwoman Harrison, and distinguished members of

          5  the Committee on Aging of the Council of the City of

          6  New York. My name is Eleanor Litwak, and I am

          7  President of the New York State Council of Senior

          8  Citizens. We are affiliated with the National

          9  Council of Senior Citizens. We are advocates for

         10  over 200,000 members and affiliates across the State

         11  of New York and their families.

         12                 Before my retirement, I was head of

         13  the Retirees Program at District Council 37 and

         14  before that I was an academic historian.

         15                 I thank you for inviting me to

         16  testify today about Social Security and Medicare,

         17  the two great entitlement programs which at present

         18  are under attack, more intense, more severe than

         19  ever before.

         20                 Social Security is being touted as in

         21  danger of going broke. This is a political attack

         22  which should not be confused with the facts. The

         23  facts are that Social Security, as we have heard

         24  before, will be able to pay full benefitted at least

         25  until 2034 and if the current level of employment
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          2  continues, with contributions pouring in, it is

          3  indeed possible, according to many economists, that

          4  nothing need be done at all.

          5                 We are bombarded by statements from

          6  the Third Millennium, Economic Security 2000, and

          7  other such groups, financed heavily by Wall Street

          8  corporations, investment houses, that the elderly,

          9  "greedy geezers" all, of which I clearly am one,

         10  are consuming the wealth of the nation. The facts

         11  are, however, that strengthening and protecting

         12  Social Security is a key priority for 81 percent of

         13  young Americans, according to a recent Peter Hart

         14  poll.

         15                 The findings may surprise some. Young

         16  people's commitment to Social Security runs a lot

         17  deeper than their supposed belief in UFOs, and this

         18  support, interestingly, cuts across social economic

         19  and political divides.

         20                 Furthermore, the poll shows that

         21  young people care about the security of older

         22  Americans. There is no evidence of intergenerational

         23  antagonism.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Unless they

         25  hate their mothers.
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          2                 MS. LITWAK: My kids love me I keep

          3  saying, I hope.

          4                 Eighty-five percent of young adults

          5  believe that senior citizens generally need and

          6  deserve government benefits they receive, so it is

          7  not unfair to young people.

          8                 The greater problem, as has been

          9  mentioned before is that young people, like old

         10  people, have been so bombarded and brainwashed by

         11  the media about the imminent demise of Social

         12  Security that even though they believe Social

         13  Security can work for them, only 41 percent of young

         14  people expect to receive benefits at today's levels.

         15                 This is a misinformation that all of

         16  us must counteract, and I trust that this Committee

         17  will be in the forefront of counteracting those

         18  false assertions.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I will be very

         20  happy to work with you. And let me ask you a

         21  question.

         22                 MS. LITWAK: Yes, of course.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You represent a

         24  good organization, JPAC is a good organization,

         25  other witnesses have represented organizations, do
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          2  you folks every work together?

          3                 MS. LITWAK: Always. Always. There is

          4  a lot of repetition in our testimony.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I just want to

          6  make sure you are not spinning your wheels

          7  independently instead of wasting a lot of energy.

          8                 MS. LITWAK: We have worked together

          9  for many years very closely.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Very good.

         11                 MS. LITWAK: Proposals and

         12  congressional bills that would change Social

         13  Security from a defined benefit to individual

         14  investment accounts are nefarious in that all

         15  responsibility for retirement is left to the

         16  individual.

         17                 The original intent of Social

         18  Security, of the Social Security Act of 1935 was

         19  that Social Security comprised one leg of a

         20  three-legged stool. The others being pensions and

         21  private savings. Private savings are not very easy

         22  when the better part of American workers have found

         23  their wages stagnating or indeed decreasing.

         24  Pensions, particularly after the second world war,

         25  provided retirement income for millions of
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          2  Americans. There were many different kinds of

          3  pension programs but most of us provided for

          4  contributions by both employees and employers.

          5                 After retirement, the worker received

          6  a steady benefit until his or her death.

          7                 In large measure, pension benefits

          8  were negotiated by unions for their members, is one

          9  of the great glories of the trade union movement.

         10  But as it weakened, under continual assault, and as

         11  the structure of American business changed, the

         12  number of people receiving pensions actually

         13  decreased, as it continues to do now. So that by the

         14  end of this millennium, only about 41 percent of all

         15  full-time workers will be protected by employer

         16  finance plans.

         17                 Part-time workers expect no

         18  retirement coverage. Less than a third, less than a

         19  third of current retirees age 65 and over receive

         20  any private pension benefits, and the median annual

         21  benefit is less than $4,000.

         22                 Needless to say, although well over

         23  50 percent of women are in the work force, far fewer

         24  women workers are covered by pension plans or are

         25  receiving health benefits or any other benefits and
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          2  these same women will be receiving considerably

          3  lower Social Security benefits.

          4                 With the increase in divorce and

          5  single parent families, it is ominously clear that

          6  women and their children are increasingly at risk of

          7  poverty.

          8                 In the last decade or so a new

          9  phenomena has arisen, the 401K. This differs from

         10  the old pension plans in that the worker for the

         11  most part must pay for it by himself or herself. The

         12  cold reality of 401K plans is that the companies

         13  used to pay for retirement plans and now the worker

         14  does. A corporate plan you were assured a retirement

         15  payment, now it is totally up to the worker. Workers

         16  have lost big time.

         17                 401K plans leave investment decisions

         18  to the individual who almost always is deficient in

         19  knowledge and understanding of complex financial

         20  matters. One can and does borrow 401K plans to cover

         21  the cost of unanticipated illness, children's

         22  education, the purchase of a home. Out of necessity,

         23  workers deplete their savings long before their

         24  retirement years. Those who depend upon 401K plans

         25  to provide the leg of the stool as pensions once did
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          2  will find that it is collapsed.

          3                 I paint a bleak picture because I

          4  believe that the future of working America is at

          5  risk as it marches toward retirement.

          6                 Threats to reduce Social Security

          7  benefits, to delay them, to means-test them, coupled

          8  with the diminution of proper pension plans replaced

          9  by wholly inadequate 401K plans, the leveling and

         10  actual decrease in wages over the last two decades

         11  and a half as top managerial salaries have sky

         12  rocketed lead me to conclude that American

         13  retirement policy, except for the very rich, will

         14  result in increasing improverishment of the middle

         15  class. Our priorities are out of whack.

         16                 I urge you on behalf of our

         17  membership and members of the disabled seniors and

         18  disabled everywhere, to publicize the great benefits

         19  and accomplishments of Social Security, to proclaim

         20  the dignity it confers upon individuals, to make

         21  clear the strength it gives to our economy, to

         22  express the need to cherish and protect it. It must

         23  not be weakened and destroyed by those who seek to

         24  transform its purpose and beneficence.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Before you go
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          2  into Medicare, I just want to ask whether or not it

          3  would be within the realm of possibility that

          4  members of these witnesses' organizations could meet

          5  with members of our Committee to formulate something

          6  as a joint effort which I would very much like to

          7  do.

          8                 So, our staff will contact you then

          9  so we can have a joint meeting, okay? Fine?

         10                 MS. LITWAK: We would be very happy to

         11  do so.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And I think we

         13  will probably do the same thing with the Medicare

         14  portion of your comments, but I wanted to say this

         15  before you went on.

         16                 MS. LITWAK: Thank you. That is a

         17  wonderful invitation that you proffer to us. I think

         18  all of the people here would be delighted at that

         19  opportunity.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Everybody is

         21  going to be invited. Thank you.

         22                 MS. LITWAK: Yes.

         23                 My remarks concerning Medicare will

         24  be brief, because you have already heard from the

         25  experts, Joe Baker, Barry Rock and others, who have
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          2  said and raised many of the issues that I wanted to,

          3  so I will just make it very brief.

          4                 Never in the 33-year history of

          5  Medicare has it been under such heavy attack. The

          6  unremitting harshness of this attack, first mounted

          7  in a budget negotiations of 1995, is due, I believe,

          8  to the emergence of an ethos that emphasizes the

          9  importance of the individual, preferably one of

         10  wealth, over the larger society. The New York State

         11  Council and its affiliates hold a contrary belief,

         12  one based on the Judeo - Christian ethic, that we

         13  are our brother's and our sister's keeper, and that

         14  all members of the society share a mutual obligation

         15  to other members of the society, particularly to

         16  those who are most vulnerable, the young, the

         17  elderly and the disabled.

         18                 As a society decided that medicare

         19  must take care of the elderly and the disabled. It

         20  is to our collective shame that a comparable program

         21  has not been developed for all of our young people

         22  and indeed for the rest of the 44 million Americans

         23  and growing who have no health coverage at all.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: My daughter and

         25  her children. My single mother family with children
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          2  who has no medical insurance.

          3                 MS. LITWAK: It is a terrible,

          4  terrible, terrible thing for your daughter and for

          5  her children, and it is our shame that it is not so,

          6  that they do not have this insurance.

          7                 We are convinced that no substantive

          8  evidence has been provided, that any other system,

          9  not vouchers, not medical savings accounts, not the

         10  Medicare Plus Choice, not any of these increasingly

         11  privatized proposals, which benefit the healthy and

         12  wealthy, would do as good a job as a single payor

         13  Medicare program has done for over three decades.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And this is

         15  something we will also continue to pursue, right?

         16                 MS. LITWAK: Exactly.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Single payor.

         18                 MS. LITWAK: Exactly.

         19                 We believe that there should be a

         20  halt to urging Medicare beneficiaries to go into

         21  HMO. This past year has produced chilling evidence

         22  and Joe Baker addressed that, that HMOs care about

         23  profits, not about people's health care.

         24                 Hundreds of thousands of the elder

         25  have become and will become medically
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          2  disenfranchised, because profits have been the

          3  motive that produced managed care. For most of us it

          4  has provided proof that health care must not be

          5  operated on the basis of a competitive market place.

          6                 The attempt to turn Medicare into a

          7  system of private insurance plans, born of the 1997

          8  balanced budget act, not only goes counter to the

          9  whole principle of social insurance, it promises as

         10  well to provide increasingly inadequate health care

         11  for those on Medicare.

         12                 We believe therefore that the

         13  critical focus of congress, your efforts and our own

         14  efforts on the national, state and City levels,

         15  should be to provide increased funding to the system

         16  so that it provides preventive health care,

         17  pharmaceutical, optical and long-term care benefits,

         18  as well as the drug benefit.

         19                 We cautiously and very, very

         20  cautiously, support the President's prescription

         21  drug and other Medicare proposals, even though they

         22  too are marred by the two great dependents on

         23  so-called marketplace competition, that is not what

         24  health care should be about.

         25                 We enthusiastically applaud his
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          2  proposal to devote 15 percent of the budget surplus

          3  to Medicare. We believe also that it should be

          4  incrementally expanded to other groups, particularly

          5  the young, which desperately need health care

          6  coverage.

          7                 The question arises, and I am

          8  surprised that no one here has raised that, how are

          9  we to pay for this?

         10                 You will recall Supreme Court justice

         11  Oliver Wendell Holmes' dictum that "Taxes are the

         12  price we pay for a civilized society." Our leaders

         13  in Washington over the last 18 years have forgotten

         14  this, and it is really a plague on both our houses,

         15  Democrats and Republicans, and they have foisted

         16  upon the American people the conviction that taxes

         17  are bad, evil, or that they must be decreased or

         18  eliminated, particularly those that fall upon the

         19  wealthiest members and corporations of our society.

         20  They have declared that government is bad and should

         21  be shrunk. We hold that the American people in order

         22  to build a genuinely communitarian society as the

         23  late great Dr. Arthur Flemming put it, should

         24  educate our congressional representation,

         25  representatives about the wisdom and desirability of
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          2  restoring genuine progressivity to our tax system,

          3  and that only government has the ability to

          4  guarantee genuine health care coverage and

          5  income-sustenance for all.

          6                 I have a list there of some of the

          7  following measures that might be used, might be

          8  considered, but nonetheless, all of these proposals

          9  would simply act as band-aids to Medicare.

         10                 What is required, as I said a moment

         11  ago, is a different ethos that holds that only

         12  government can do certain tasks, like maintaining

         13  the great social insurance programs of Medicare and

         14  Social Security that benefit all Americans. And that

         15  is a nation we should all expect to pay equitable

         16  taxes so that these systems will always receive the

         17  kind of support and financing that they require.

         18                 Medicare should not be cut or

         19  weakened or permitted to "wither on the vine," as

         20  the former speaker of the House of Representatives

         21  declared.  We don't know what causes health care

         22  costs to increase. One hypothesis after another has

         23  been proposed, only to be discarded upon further

         24  research and further, unforeseen developments in

         25  health care.
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          2                 What is required of all of us and our

          3  elected officials is a conviction and

          4  recommendations to Congress to recognize that

          5  Medicare is great in its sweep and its purpose and

          6  that it must be strengthened, not reformed, not

          7  changed, so that it will be there for our children

          8  and our grandchildren and their children and

          9  grandchildren as well.

         10                 What is required of you is the

         11  understanding that historians have, that you can't

         12  prepare for what will be 20. 30, 40 years hence, you

         13  can only do now what is required now. If we keep it

         14  strong and sound now, future generations will have

         15  the same will and understanding to continue Medicare

         16  in accordance with what their times will require.

         17                 Thank you for permitting me to

         18  testify today.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You are very

         20  welcome, and it won't be the last time we will be

         21  together, okay?

         22                 MS. LITWAK: I look forward to that.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Let me

         25  introduce my colleague, Una Clarke, from Brooklyn.
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          2                 Tom White has a question.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Yes. First of

          4  all, let me thank you for your testimony. It was

          5  very meaningful. The manner in which you have -- I

          6  believe I saw a moving not too long ago. I was not

          7  feeling well and I went to the Blockbusters, and I

          8  saw Analyze This.

          9                 MS. LITWAK: It was very funny.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: But I think

         11  that one of the things, Madam Chair, and to the

         12  distinguished presenters here today, is the fact

         13  that it doesn't take a rocket scientist to take a

         14  look at what is really happening. The answer may not

         15  be simple but it is very obvious to me, at least in

         16  my humble opinion, with what is going on in terms of

         17  cost.

         18                 Some time ago we had a hearing about

         19  the longevity of New Yorkers, in terms of the

         20  percentage of New Yorkers who will be above the age

         21  of 60 and 65, or 85, over a period of time. The

         22  longer you live, the more it costs. It costs in

         23  terms of those unforeseen things that people that

         24  did not live as long as we have lived had to deal

         25  with, and one of them is, maybe not have the modern
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          2  hi-tech medical equipment, and the cost of that

          3  involved. We wanted to go to the moon but we didn't

          4  know how much it cost, but there was a commitment to

          5  go to the moon. I think that there has to be a

          6  commitment to the fact that as long as we have

          7  medical science and they are working in many

          8  different areas to correct and add longevity to the

          9  human race there is going to be a cost involved. And

         10  I think that based on, as you say, the Judeo

         11  Christian type of philosophy that we have, that that

         12  has never been a factor, the human factor, since we

         13  are a capitalistic company, we deal with how many

         14  wickets can you make. But, no, I don't think that it

         15  is a blame game. I think it is the fact that what we

         16  have to begin to do is maybe just modify what you

         17  said. We can't predict what is going to happen years

         18  from now, but we need to deal with what we need to

         19  deal now, okay? We need to plan for the future, but

         20  we can't predict the outcome.

         21                 So, I would just like to say for the

         22  record, and I don't know, so I am asking this

         23  question, how many congressional leaders has the

         24  organization you represented contacted, either by

         25  mail or phone?
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          2                 MS. LITWAK: Well, we stay in contact,

          3  our national office, our national organization stays

          4  in contact with all of them in the house and in the

          5  senate, and we, of course, since we are a state

          6  organization, maintain ongoing contact with the

          7  representatives in congress that represent New York

          8  State and with our two senators. Not always with

          9  great success but we do --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Well, the

         11  reason I will bring that up, I mean, we will

         12  operate, I am sure, under the able leadership of

         13  Chairman Harrison, but I think on this particular

         14  issue, I think it is very important that in order to

         15  move into planning for the future, that we have some

         16  idea of what our colleagues, in other words if you

         17  knew what my representative was doing or not doing

         18  that I interact with, for point of identification

         19  let's say Congressman Meeks, if he was approached

         20  and what his idea is, or what his idea is not, gives

         21  me one up on when we sit down and we talk on a

         22  one-to-one basis, and even on a statewide basis, the

         23  Assemblyperson in my area, Assemblywoman Cook, I

         24  would like to know what her response is in

         25  relationship to this particular issue, or State
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          2  Senator Aida Smith or State Senator Alto Walden, I

          3  would like to know what that is so that we can

          4  eliminate that political mumbo-jumbo talk, if there

          5  is any. I don't believe of the people that I have

          6  just mentioned that they double-talk, because we

          7  have a good working relationship, but we still need

          8  to know if we are going to move in the direction of

          9  trying to correct this to the best of our ability.

         10                 That is just my suggestion.

         11                 MS. LITWAK: In regard to

         12  Representative Meeks, I would like to make this

         13  point because he is an example that is so positive,

         14  that I wish everyone else sometimes would follow.

         15                 I spoke with him, we shared a

         16  platform at the New York City Central Labor Council,

         17  Executive Council, in January, I think. And he had

         18  just been elected. He said well he didn't really

         19  know too much about the issue of Social Security.

         20  First of all, I have never heard a politician in my

         21  life admit that he didn't know something, and he

         22  said that he would like to learn about it.

         23                 Well, I attended the breakfast, the

         24  Labor Day breakfast at the New York City Central

         25  Labor Council the week before last, and Congressman
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          2  Meeks got up and gave a fabulous impassioned, and

          3  knowledgeable talk, in which he raised the issue of

          4  Social Security. He was marvelous.

          5                 Now, there is a guy who in the space

          6  of what is it, eight months, has really learned

          7  these issues. He was modest enough and honest enough

          8  to say in January that he didn't really know the

          9  issues, but in the interim he has taken the time,

         10  made the effort to teach himself about it and now he

         11  really does know it and he is a fabulous supporter

         12  of ours. I mean it was an extraordinary -- I don't

         13  think, and I am an old lady, I have ever had an

         14  experience of hearing a representative of any

         15  government be so open about not knowing about thee

         16  issue and then so wonderfully apprising himself of

         17  the issues that were so important to know. So, you

         18  tell Congressman Meeks that I think he is great.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: I will. I just

         20  will just say that you are a lovely, refined,

         21  maturing woman. And that is one of the reasons why

         22  we elected Gregory Meeks and supported him because

         23  of his insight and enthusiasm and his creativity and

         24  I will share that with him when I see him.

         25                 MS. LITWAK: Okay.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: On that very

          3  happy note. Thank you so much.

          4                 MS. LITWAK: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Now I would

          6  like to call the last three speakers, and you may

          7  all come up together so you don't have to waste time

          8  going back and forth.

          9                 Shirley Genn, please. Sidney Socolar

         10  and Meyer Braiterman. If you would all be good

         11  enough to come forward and share the table, share

         12  the seats.

         13                 How ever you fellows want to go.

         14  Ladies first or gentlemen first, start from one end

         15  and go to the other.

         16                 MS. Thank you, I appreciate that.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

         18                 MS. GENN: I am delighted to be here

         19  as always. I do want to take special note of the

         20  fact that when I got the call giving the information

         21  about the hearing I was really delighted and

         22  impressed that there was a real attempt to reach

         23  out, and among the other questions that I was asked,

         24  one of the most important ones I think was, are

         25  there any groups that you feel ought to be given the
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          2  opportunity, and most of the people who are here are

          3  among those people whose names and organizations I

          4  gave and I am sure that you did the same thing when

          5  you called each of the other groups.

          6                 So I want to just begin by thanking

          7  Chairwoman Harrison and the Committee.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And the loyal

          9  staff. Thank you.

         10                 MS. GENN: Yes, and the loyal staff

         11  always, that should never be neglected. Without it,

         12  none of us could really do the kind of job that we

         13  try to do, with some success sometimes.

         14                 I just also want to say that today I

         15  am also representing specifically the views of the

         16  Institute of Puerto Rican and Hispanic Elderly and

         17  the New York Citizen's Committee on Aging, simply

         18  because they could not be here today and asked that

         19  they represent their views. And I will begin with my

         20  formal testimony and interrupt me at any time.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And if you

         22  could be informal too, you don't have to read

         23  everything.

         24                 MS. GENN: I will be brief, the

         25  testimony is brief and --

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            89

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I don't want to

          3  denigrate anything.

          4                 MS. GENN: No, I understand. I have

          5  been sitting here as long as you have, and listening

          6  attentively, but I do know that it is difficult, and

          7  it doesn't make any difference where the information

          8  comes from, as long as you get it and it need not be

          9  restated 100 times.

         10                 For those of you who don't know me,

         11  and I do recognize most of you, my Brooklyn people

         12  and of course they do know me and I know them well

         13  and I will be seeing them many times, my name is

         14  Shirley Genn, and I am the Director of Education and

         15  public policy of the Brooklyn-Wide Interagency

         16  Council of the Aging. We are composed of 17 local

         17  member councils that represent almost 400,000

         18  seniors who reside throughout our borough.

         19                 I am especially pleased to have been

         20  invited by Chairwoman Harrison and the City

         21  Council's Aging Committee to address two issues of

         22  paramount importance to all Americans, Social

         23  Security and Medicare.

         24                 As Willie Loehmann's wife says in

         25  Death of a Salesman, "Attention must be paid." And I
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          2  am urging you, and I know you have already

          3  demonstrated your care, and we need your strong

          4  attention and also your consistent loyal support for

          5  the principles that will be enunciated and that have

          6  been stated, and we do sincerely appreciate them.

          7                 Several of my colleagues representing

          8  City, State and national organizations are present

          9  today and with one or two exceptions, our views are

         10  similar, if not identical to those that you are

         11  going to hear and have heard from most of the other

         12  groups.

         13                 Indeed, many of us are active

         14  participants, advocates and members of coalitions on

         15  Social Security and Medicare and that is again in

         16  response to your questions, Chairwoman Harrison,

         17  that we do work together. We all were just at

         18  another meeting together and came here so that you

         19  have a very consistent hard-working group that works

         20  together cooperatively and we support each other's

         21  efforts.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I assume that

         23  though you work together you have different

         24  communities of people to whom you outreach.

         25                 You are not duplicating your --
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          2                 MS. GENN: Absolutely.

          3                 We work and represent different

          4  communities, but there is also some overlapping. I

          5  work for Brooklyn-wide, however, I am on the Board

          6  of a few other organizations that are here and that

          7  are not here but whose views I am representing.

          8                 So that, yes, it is certainly easily

          9  a Citywide and Statewide effort and you are hearing

         10  the point of view of most of these groups who

         11  represent not only City organizations, but state and

         12  in some instances national organizations, and they

         13  are consumer directed views.

         14                 So, I will try to be brief, except to

         15  add a few ancillary factors to the lives of our

         16  elderly, just to demonstrate how important these

         17  basic entitlements that you are concerned with are

         18  to our lives.

         19                 As you know, Brooklyn-Wide is a

         20  consumer dominated organization, the vast majority

         21  live just above the poverty level and they are not

         22  eligible for Medicaid. Income support for some, the

         23  only income for many, Social Security is the

         24  critical leg of the three-legged stool that you have

         25  heard referred to a number of times - pension,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            92

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  savings and Social Security.

          3                 Health care costs, including premium

          4  rates, higher deductibles and copays have resulted

          5  in double digit increases for most of us. I count

          6  myself among the privileged. I do have a fairly good

          7  City pension, I do collect Social Security, and I

          8  can tell you that the cost, and I am low, that the

          9  costs for health care have just doubled in the years

         10  since I left the system and started working here at

         11  Brooklyn-Wide.

         12                 Prescription drugs have spiraled in

         13  cost, health care insurance has become unaffordable,

         14  unavailable, to the neediest of us, to the elderly

         15  and the disabled.

         16                 I do want to note something else that

         17  is important, and I am sure that you were aware that

         18  my colleagues and I not only represent senior

         19  groups, but we have unequivocably demonstrated in

         20  the positions that we have taken that we are

         21  socially responsible, and that we care, not only for

         22  ourselves, but for our children, our grandchildren

         23  and your grandchildren and your friends and

         24  relatives.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And in that
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          2  connection, when you folks get together to have your

          3  demonstrations or your meetings or your decisions,

          4  your discussions, count me in on it, okay?

          5                 MS. GENN: I most certainly will. And

          6  as you know we have, and we have made you aware and

          7  we will continue to --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I know, I came

          9  once.

         10                 MS. GENN: Yes, you did. And we will

         11  be back. Indeed you did, and we were very pleased

         12  and honored to have you and we will ask you again.

         13                 Health care insurance companies have

         14  already begun to request that New York State

         15  Insurance Department grant increases and premiums.

         16  Premium support, the code words for a voucher system

         17  is advocated by some members in congress, Congress

         18  has already increased the age of eligibility for

         19  social security benefits to 67. Even when we know

         20  full well there is a significant portion of elderly

         21  minorities and women who die before they become

         22  eligible before benefits, or are too poor to

         23  purchase the private indemnity insurance against

         24  illness that they need.

         25                 Let's not forget those ancillary
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          2  basic expenses, such as increased costs of items

          3  like toothpaste, over-the-counter medication, shoes

          4  and other clothing, housing, and, yes, even banking.

          5                 At another time, and I will be in

          6  touch with you on these issues, perhaps we will be

          7  offered the opportunity to present testimony on the

          8  impact upon seniors of the inability to access the

          9  other services that are referred to, without which

         10  the poor elderly and disabled population cannot

         11  survive.

         12                 But I will be brief. Briefly, I am

         13  just going to list our recommendations for your

         14  support for Social Security and Medicare. Of course

         15  I will respond to any questions, all the experts

         16  around me who have spoken before and will follow

         17  will answer as well or even better than I.

         18                 Under Social Security we just are

         19  adamant, and advocate and insist that it remain

         20  universal and portable and national, universal,

         21  defined benefit, not a defined contribution which

         22  would mean you only get that which you can afford to

         23  pay and not what you need.

         24                 We oppose premium support, which is

         25  the other word for vouchers. We oppose means
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          2  testing, and definitely raising the age of

          3  eligibility, given what we understand about the

          4  needs of people as they age-in or become disabled.

          5                 We oppose the reduction of the COLA

          6  because it is essential in order to keep up with the

          7  cost of living and be able to get the basic

          8  necessities of life.

          9                 We support increasing the Social

         10  Security payroll contribution for employers and

         11  employees and we certainly think that the wage cap

         12  should be raised from 68,000 to 99,000.

         13                 We feel that existing benefits must

         14  be maintained and we have to have a progressive tax

         15  system, and with time, now look to expanding and

         16  improving the benefits. And the government surpluses

         17  should be used to save and improve Social Security,

         18  not to pay for tax cuts.

         19                 In terms of Medicare, we insist that

         20  it must remain a national universal, social

         21  insurance that will continue to be a defined

         22  benefit.

         23                 The Medicare benefit package needs to

         24  be improved to maintain and expand the broad

         25  national base that guarantees coverage based upon
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          2  health care needs.

          3                 Our recommendations are:

          4                 The addition of cost of prescription

          5  drugs.

          6                 To assure parity for mental

          7  healthcare, which somehow or other is too frequently

          8  overlooked, and a real problem for many people as

          9  they age in and become more isolated in their life

         10  experiences.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And we have as

         12  a member of our Committee, Council Member Una

         13  Clarke, who is the chair of the Committee on Mental

         14  Health.

         15                 MS. GENN: I know.

         16                 We certain feel that they have to

         17  improve upon preventive rehabilitative and long-term

         18  care, and lower the age of eligibility, not raise

         19  it.

         20                 So, our ultimate goal is a universal

         21  Medicare proposal, it is a universal health care,

         22  Medicare plan for everybody. We support, and are

         23  very concerned in view of a lot of the things that

         24  have occurred, and HMO patient bill of rights to

         25  guarantee that people get the health care needs that
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          2  they should have met without difficulty and without

          3  undue delay.

          4                 We should certainly repeal the

          5  medical savings accounts, and we have to support a

          6  goal of maintaining genuine affordable option of

          7  fee-for-service, which are indemnity policies, so

          8  people that want to and need to select their own

          9  physicians, go to the kind of medical services they

         10  find would be most helpful to them, be available at

         11  an affordable rate.

         12                 We support the Health Care Finance

         13  Administration getting an increase in their

         14  resources, and that would deal with other problems

         15  that everybody is throwing up.

         16                 They have to improve their functions

         17  to investigate and to enforce infractions of law and

         18  to encourage a consumer-friendly system.

         19                 And last, but not least, we have just

         20  gone through, in the last year or so, a Kyle-Archer

         21  bill which was to expand private contracting, under

         22  the guise of otherwise doctors won't take care of

         23  you while under Medicare. They are doing very well,

         24  and they take care of close to 100 percent, 90 some

         25  odd percent of us.
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          2                 So, such a bill, which I suspect is

          3  going to come to the fore is also something that

          4  must be opposed. It will make decent, affordable

          5  health care unaffordable and therefore indecent.

          6                 And I thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Thank you.

          8                 Any comments? Any questions?

          9                 Yes, Council Member Clarke.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: You should

         11  know that if Brooklyn is before me, there is

         12  something I would have to say for Brooklyn.

         13                 Let me just thank you for the work

         14  that you do. I arrived late because this week is

         15  rehabilitation week, and the Brooklyn Center for

         16  Nursing and Rehabilitation, that is attached to

         17  Kings County, had their opening ceremony this

         18  morning, and the very issues that we are discussing

         19  here they had experts discussing and so I had a

         20  sense that we need all to be moving in the same

         21  direction, from all communities from which we come

         22  that certainly especially the elderly and the

         23  disabled need to be able to make choices for

         24  themselves concerning the continued Medicaid,

         25  Medicare and social security. And if we have had the
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          2  will up to this point to be able to do it at a time

          3  when we have surplus, there should be no big

          4  politicing back and forth, people with common sense

          5  do common sense things and I think that the only way

          6  we can secure the future is to be able to put the

          7  money in now so that we can make sure that both our

          8  elderly and our disabled feel that investment that

          9  they have already made, that now that they need to

         10  collect on that investment, that there is no

         11  tinkering around the edges of it on their behalf and

         12  so I am solidly behind what you do, and certainly

         13  will make sure that most my congressional

         14  representatives, as well as my U.S. Senators know

         15  where I stand on these issues.

         16                 And I think we are doing this hearing

         17  at a good time, at least next year we will have a

         18  senatorial election where people will have to say

         19  what they believe, how they will believe and what

         20  they will do when elected.

         21                 So I thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: All right.

         23  Thank you, Shirley.

         24                 Either of you gentlemen, whoever.

         25                 MR. SOCOLAR: Good afternoon. My name
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          2  is Sid Socolar, I am Professor Emeritus of the

          3  University of Miami School of Medicine, a counselor

          4  of the Medical Care Section of the American Public

          5  Health Association and Co-Chair of the Public Policy

          6  Committee of the Public Health Association of New

          7  York City. I am grateful to be able to testify here

          8  today and the views I will present are strictly my

          9  own.

         10                 I chose to be brief today rather than

         11  comprehensive and I hope that although you are

         12  hearing many of the same points from several of us,

         13  that the differences in the mode of presentation and

         14  in the emphases will contribute to clarity.

         15                 We need a national debate on

         16  Medicare. A struggle over Medicare reform is shaping

         17  up in congress, and it is driven by two factors. One

         18  is the vocal insistence by some conservatives that

         19  the Medicare Hospital Trust Fund is spending itself

         20  into bankruptcy and that a strategy to cut back

         21  spending is needed urgently.

         22                 The other factor is a widespread

         23  recognition of a serious deficiency in Medicare

         24  benefits, most notably there is no coverage for

         25  outpatient restriction drugs.
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          2                 President Clinton's proposal for

          3  Medicare reform relates to both of these concerns.

          4                 Let's consider the financial solvency

          5  concern. Too few people know that in their most

          6  recent annual report, the trustees of Medicare's

          7  hospital trust fund pronounced the fund secure until

          8  the year 2015. Now, this alone has been

          9  characterized as the most optimistic forecast for

         10  the fund in a generation. The President's proposal

         11  to bolster the fund further by using 15 percent of

         12  anticipated federal budget surpluses over the next

         13  15 years could secure the funds for another 12 years

         14  until 2027. So there is no financial crisis to

         15  require such rash actions as privatizing and

         16  voucherizing.

         17                 Private Medicare Managed Care has

         18  proven less cost efficient than traditional

         19  Medicare, vouchers would strip away the entitlement,

         20  and price competition would squeeze out services.

         21                 There is plenty of time to work on

         22  raising efficiencies in the present program and on

         23  identifying new revenues. Regrettably, President

         24  Clinton has bought into the privatization and

         25  voucherization ideas, ideas that should be resisted
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          2  firmly.

          3                 Now, for the prescription drug

          4  coverage issue. In the past, hospital expenditures

          5  dominated the cost of health care. Now powerfully

          6  effective but costly new pharmaceuticals for

          7  outpatient use are fast coming to play the dominant

          8  role in costs that hospitals formerly played. We are

          9  reaching the point where the quality of health care

         10  will depend mainly on the prescription drugs you can

         11  afford. That will be the difference between the

         12  haves and have-nots in health care.

         13                 With the current price levels and

         14  trends, however, a prescription drug benefit that

         15  meets the needs of Medicare beneficiaries could be

         16  outrageously expensive. So a solution will have to

         17  entail substantial reductions in prices.

         18                 Is this possible? Consider, one, the

         19  prices that major drug manufacturers charge their US

         20  consumers are far higher than those they charge in

         21  other wealthy countries. So, in effect, US consumer

         22  is subsidizing prices in those other countries.

         23                 Two, the pharmaceutical industry is

         24  by all standard measures the most profitable

         25  industry group in the Fortune 500.
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          2                 Must lower revenues undermine your

          3  capacity to develop new products? Consider that they

          4  spend far more of their revenues on marketing and

          5  administration than on product research and

          6  development.

          7                 The pricing issue, therefore, can be

          8  solved.

          9                 In sum, except for the 15 percent for

         10  15 years, the President's reform plan fails to

         11  address Medicare's needs instructively. We need to

         12  find better answers and we can.

         13                 I would be pleased to answer any

         14  questions you may have.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I just want to

         17  thank you, but I want to offer an observation; and

         18  that is, that it seems to me when we focus all of

         19  the discussion and attention on Medicare -- not on

         20  Medicare, on the cost of drugs, and the fact that

         21  they are so expensive, what we are also saying is

         22  that the people who live in this country are not

         23  getting dietary information, are not getting proper

         24  health guidance in their formative years, nor in

         25  their young adult years. If they were, I don't think
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          2  they would be so dependent on drugs at the end of

          3  their life cycle.

          4                 MR. SOCOLAR: I couldn't agree with

          5  you more, Chairwoman Harrison.

          6                 The emphasis on prevention is far too

          7  feeble in our society.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: We are playing

          9  into the maw of the pharmaceutical industry by

         10  ignoring and by fastfood diets that the kids are

         11  being raised on, that our families are opting to eat

         12  every day.

         13                 MR. SOCOLAR: We have medicalized

         14  health excessively, and as you point out, there is a

         15  price to pay for that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And nobody is

         17  making any reference to the fact this is what the

         18  cause of it is. We are all aware of the results

         19  which makes so many of us dependent on drugs, but

         20  nobody talks about obviating that final dependency.

         21                 MR. SOCOLAR: You know, if the topic

         22  of the day were not specifically Medicare and the

         23  issues which are now looming nationally in Medicare,

         24  then it would be very important to develop the point

         25  that health is about much more than medicine.
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          2  Medicine is one of the minor factors as a

          3  determinant of health.

          4                 We need to pay far greater attention

          5  in public health to environmental and preventive

          6  factors in community health and so far.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: We have to

          8  adjust our priorities, right?

          9                 MR. SOCOLAR: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Right. Thank

         11  you.

         12                 Mike did you want to say something?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I think if we

         14  had a transfusion we could each use each other's

         15  blood, as far as a thought process overall.

         16  Basically I guess we have to try to work together

         17  and appeal to a higher level in all different ways.

         18  It is just like the story of a guy who needs a

         19  transplant and two possible opportunities pop up,

         20  one was a 18-year-old athlete and the other was an

         21  80-year-old politician and the recipient chose the

         22  80-year-old politician and the doctor asked him why

         23  and he said, well, I feel that the heart hasn't been

         24  used that often. So, I am afraid that is possibly at

         25  a high level, I would hope, and not with our --
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          2  local elected officials I believe, as has been

          3  brought out earlier by Shirley.

          4                 But anyway, I think the Chair has

          5  some good ideas, work together, and this is sort of

          6  like seed type of a situation here, and maybe

          7  actually in our capacity, actually we are

          8  accomplishing something positive in this area. Thank

          9  you.

         10                 MR. SOCOLAR: We are very much

         11  encouraged by the responsiveness of the Committee

         12  here today.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: We have a very

         14  good committee and we have basically a very good

         15  City Council collegial membership as well. I think

         16  the City of New York doesn't realize what a gold

         17  mine it has in the membership, and I am quite

         18  serious about this. We have people in the City

         19  Council who are dedicated to the welfare of their

         20  constituents to a high degree and they are not

         21  guided by affiliation, political affiliation, it

         22  cuts across all lines and I think bottom line

         23  interests are generally merged, and for the welfare

         24  of the citizens of this town. I think we are very

         25  lucky, and my Committee is a reflection of what we
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          2  have on a larger scale.

          3                 If you would, sir. Mr. Braiterman.

          4                 MR. BRAITERMAN: Yes. My name is Meyer

          5  Braiterman, and I will be very brief and just skim

          6  over what my testimony is and what I handed out. But

          7  first I would like, as a person who participates

          8  with both the public health association in New York

          9  City and the Commissioner on the Public Health

         10  System, thank you guys for making a budget this

         11  year. It was a bit viable, even though it was what

         12  we should have gotten last year. And your concerns

         13  about public health are very, very much appreciated.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Thank you.

         15                 MR. BRAITERMAN: And we have to

         16  continue to increase the resources for the City,

         17  increase the public health resources --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And we also

         19  have to try to resist the downsizing concepts that

         20  have resulted in reducing the manpower, womanpower,

         21  laborpower, in so many of our departments as we

         22  became terribly painfully aware as a result of this

         23  mosquito scourge.

         24                 MR. BRAITERMAN: Right.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: When we have
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          2  two people in the whole City of New York working on

          3  that kind of an issue, I mean on a regular basis.

          4                 MR. BRAITERMAN: My expertise, if

          5  there be such a thing, is I am an insurance agent

          6  and I specialize in medical insurance. At the same

          7  time I am the treasurer of the Brooklyn Single Payor

          8  Network, trying to put myself out of business

          9  working for a single payor system.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You will be in

         11  business.

         12                 MR. BRAITERMAN: Unfortunately, yes.

         13                 However, I thought when I was invited

         14  here to testify that you were considering a

         15  resolution in support of the President's plan to

         16  strengthen and modernize Medicare for the 21st

         17  century. And it is an interesting document and I

         18  went through it very carefully and picked out a

         19  couple of things to comment on.

         20                 First of all, I think, as we have

         21  heard here for many people, we really don't feel,

         22  the people that I know here, don't feel that a

         23  premium support kind of plan is really the way to

         24  help Medicare, and the president's plan does happen

         25  to be a premium support plan.
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          2                 If you read it, you will see that he

          3  is taking the 45 50 that we seniors kick in every

          4  month for Medicare part B, then optionally, it is

          5  our option now to use it to buy into an HMO, and we

          6  will add our own money if we are going to buy into a

          7  better one. It is a premium support plan, it is a

          8  form of premium support. My testimony goes more into

          9  that and explains it a little bit more.

         10                 But he did say that he wants to

         11  replace benefits competition with price competition.

         12  Great. Now, we are looking, as Ms. Clarke pointed

         13  out so well, now we are looking at health care as a

         14  function of the economy, rather than as a function

         15  of being alive and being human.

         16                 So, I really am quite suspicious of

         17  the President's motives. And then I would very

         18  quickly go to, and you have heard all of the points

         19  of it from everybody else, I won't go into it again,

         20  then he says that we really do need to have a --

         21  well, what does he call it -- then he says we need a

         22  plan to provide a drug benefit within Medicare, but

         23  he also says that we can't even consider this

         24  premium support type of plan, competitive defined

         25  benefit, he calls it, without the drug plan. Well,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            110

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  why? Because politically he can use the drug plan as

          3  a smoke screen to hide what he is trying to do by

          4  essentially privatizing Medicare.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And you can

          6  also play up to some of his financial supporters.

          7                 MR. BRAITERMAN: Exactly.

          8                 So, as you had suggested at the very

          9  beginning, why not consider price, and some people

         10  here did talk a little bit about Senator Marchi,

         11  dear, venerable Senator Marchi, you know, the oldest

         12  legislator in the country, or the longest -- he has

         13  the longest tenure of any legislator in the country.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

         15                 MR. BRAITERMAN: And I guess one of

         16  the few Republicans, if you will pardon my

         17  expression and I don't know if anyone here is

         18  Republican, one of the few Republicans for whom I

         19  have had a lot of respect for many, many years.

         20                 But now he comes up with a plan to

         21  say, okay, New York State should pass a law that --

         22  let me see, I summed it up here, the price of drug

         23  should be no more than not paid by any government

         24  agency, like the VA, or by any foreign country.

         25                 In other words, Spaniards, who pay
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          2  about 25 percent of what Americans pay for the same

          3  drugs, would set the standard for the drugs that

          4  they pay only 25 percent of it. And this is what his

          5  bill is.

          6                 You asked whether or not it was in

          7  the assembly. Assemblyman Gottfried and Pete Grannis

          8  have indicated that they will go along with the idea

          9  of letting the -- let the senate pass it first. They

         10  are ready to.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I think

         12  Gottfried is chair of the Health Committee.

         13                 MR. BRAITERMAN: Chair of the Health

         14  Committee and Grannis is chair of the Insurance

         15  Committee.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Yes.

         17                 MR. BRAITERMAN: And as you know,

         18  something like this would pass the assembly

         19  instantly, so that they haven't put up a bill yet,

         20  they are waiting until if Marchi can get this

         21  through the senate somehow or another, then of

         22  course they will immediately have a companion bill.

         23                 I just thought you might -- I think

         24  that is why you asked, you wanted to know, that is

         25  what is happening there.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            112

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Yes.

          3                 MR. BRAITERMAN: But ultimately I

          4  would plead with you that, you know, as far as

          5  vouchers and other profit-making schemes to reduce

          6  medical costs, let's just reduce all medical costs

          7  and make the original basic Medicare program with

          8  some substantial benefit improvements available to

          9  everybody.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: All right. But

         11  I think we may also enlist the support of the

         12  medical professionals who have been feeling the

         13  backslash of the pharmaceutical insurance people who

         14  have been setting the rates and the kinds of service

         15  the doctors can give. So I think we may have an ally

         16  in the making or we already have an ally which we

         17  are not taking advantage of or which we should

         18  cultivate perhaps.

         19                 MR. BRAITERMAN: I am on the Steering

         20  Committee also of Physicians for National Health

         21  Program, which is the medical profession's arm, as

         22  you know, working for a single payor medical

         23  insurance, or a single payor way of paying for

         24  medical insurance. And more and more people are

         25  joining it. There is a unionization of the medical
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          2  profession --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Of doctors.

          4                 MR. BRAITERMAN: Yes. This came from

          5  about four years ago, they had a union

          6  representative address their national meeting, I

          7  think it was in Washington, it was about four or

          8  five years ago, and he gets up to the doctors and he

          9  says, well, gentlemen, now that we have these HMOs,

         10  welcome to the working class. And I think that --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Incentivise

         12  them a bit.

         13                 MR. BRAITERMAN: And I think they are

         14  catching on. I think they are, and we are seeing a

         15  lot of activity in that direction.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: It is a very

         17  astute observation.

         18                 MR. BRAITERMAN: Thank you very much.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: And I just

         20  lobbied my colleague Council Member Abel to be on

         21  our side.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Oh, he is

         23  always on our side.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ABEL: I didn't know we

         25  were taking sides.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: He is a working

          3  man to begin with.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I just lobbied

          5  him and he said he will talk to Marchi on our

          6  behalf.

          7                 MR. BRAITERMAN: You know what support

          8  means. When anybody supports you when you are coming

          9  up with something wild like that, I mean, it really

         10  counts. So, if you think we ought to lower the cost

         11  of drugs, let them know you think so.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Is there anyone

         13  else here who would like to make any comments, or

         14  offer any testimony?

         15                 Thank you very much. If not, then it

         16  is adjourned. Thank you for being here.

         17                 (Hearing concluded at 3:30 p.m.)
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